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Vision, Mission and Values

Vision 2014

A transformed and sustainable energy sector with universal access to modern energy carriers

for all by 2014. 

Vision 2025

Improving our energy mix by having 30% clean energy by 2025.

Mission

To regulate and transform the sector for the provision of secure, sustainable and affordable

energy.

Values

Batho Pele
Ethics

Honesty

Integrity

Accountability

Professionalism

Ubuntu
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Organisational Structure(s)

Department of Energy – Interim Operational Structure implemented on 1 April 2010
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Legislative Mandate

• The National Energy Act, 2008 (Act No. 34 of 2008), is the enabling legislation that

empowers the Minister of Energy to ensure that diverse energy resources are available in

sustainable quantities and at affordable prices in the South African economy to support

economic growth and poverty alleviation, while taking into account environmental

considerations. In addition, the Act provides for the increased use of renewable energies;

contingency energy supplies; the holding of strategic energy feedstock and carriers; and

adequate investment in energy infrastructure. Importantly, the Department of Energy (DoE)

is mandated to provide energy planning and measures for the furnishing of certain data and

information on energy demand, supply and generation.

• The Electricity Regulation Act, 2006, (Act No. 4 of 2006) as amended, establishes a

national regulatory framework for the electricity supply industry to be enforced by the

National Energy Regulator. In terms of Section 34 (1), the Minister of Energy is empowered

to promulgate regulations for the establishment of Independent Power Producers (IPPs) for

the purpose of greater competition in the electricity-generation sector to increase the supply

of electricity.

• The Petroleum Products Amendment Act, 2003 (Act No. 58 of 2003), as amended,

provides for the licensing of persons involved in the manufacturing or sale of petroleum

products; promotes the transformation of the South African petroleum and liquid fuels

industry and authorises the Minister of Energy to make specific regulations. 

Entities Reporting to the Minister of Energy

• The National Energy Regulator of South Africa (NERSA) derives its mandate from the

National Energy Regulator Act, 2004 (Act No. 40 of 2004), which establishes NERSA as the

competent authority for electricity regulation in terms of the Electricity Regulation Act, 2006

(Act No. 4 of 2006), gas regulation in terms of the Gas Act, 2001 (Act No. 48 of 2001) and

petroleum pipelines regulation in terms of the Petroleum Pipelines Act, 2003 (Act No. 60 of

2003) in South Africa. NERSA raises its revenues by imposing prescribed levies on

regulated industries. The following acts govern the imposition of such levies: 

– Gas Regulator Levies Act, 2002 (Act No. 75 of 2002)

– Petroleum Pipelines Levies Act, 2004 (Act No. 28 of 2004) 

– Section 5B of the Electricity Act, 1987 (Act No. 41 of 1987)

• The National Nuclear Regulator (NNR) was established in terms of the National Nuclear

Regulator Act, 1999 (Act No. 47 of 1999). The purpose of the Regulator is to provide for the

protection of persons, property and the environment against nuclear damage through the

establishment of safety standards and regulatory practices.

• CEF (Pty) Ltd (CEF) is a private company incorporated in terms of the Companies Act and

governed by the Central Energy Fund Act, 1977 (Act No. 38 of 1977). The group operates

in the energy sector and manages defined energy interests with commercial, strategic,

licensing and developmental roles on behalf of the South African Government and more

recently, with a special focus on renewable and cleaner, alternative energy sources. CEF

is made up of eleven operating entities/subsidiaries, namely PetroSA, the South African

Gas Development Company (iGas), Petroleum Agency SA (PASA), Oil Pollution Control

South Africa (OPCSA), the South African National Energy Research Institute (SANERI), the

Strategic Fuel Fund (SFF), the African Exploration Mining and Finance Corporation

(AEMFC), ETA Energy (formerly CEF Sustainability), CEF Carbon, CCE Solutions (Pty) Ltd

and the South African Supplier Development Agency (SASDA). 
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Further to the subsidiaries, CEF includes two divisions, namely the Energy Development

Corporation (EDC) and the National Energy Efficiency Agency (NEEA). Through the EDC,

CEF has equity interests in Baniettor Mining (Pty) Ltd (49%), Darling Wind Power (Pty) Ltd

(49%), Biotherm (Pty) Ltd (19%), Johanna Solar BV (3%), Phillips Lighting Maseru (30%)

and Cradock Sugar Beet and Energ G Joburg (29%). Through the SFF, CEF manages the

strategic crude oil stock for the country on an agency basis. PetroSA is involved in

exploration for oil and gas onshore and offshore South Africa, as well as the rest of Africa;

the production of environmentally friendly petroleum fuels and petrochemical products from

gas and condensate at its synfuels refinery outside Mossel Bay; and the management of oil

storage facilities. OPCSA provides oil prevention, control and clean-up services, mainly in

South African ports and coastal areas, in terms of South Africa’s National Environmental

Management Act (NEMA). PASA manages the promotion and licensing of oil and gas

exploration, development and production in South Africa and the coastal areas offshore

South Africa as part of creating a viable upstream oil industry in the country. iGas acts as

the official agent of the South African Government for the development of the hydrocarbon

gas industry, comprising natural gas (LNG) and petroleum gas (LPG), in South Africa. 

• The Nuclear Energy Act, 1999 (Act No. 46 of 1999), mandates the South African Nuclear

Energy Corporation (NECSA) to undertake and promote research and development in

the field of nuclear energy and radiation science. NECSA is also responsible for the following

institutional obligations on behalf of the state: decommissioning and decontamination of

past strategic nuclear facilities; management of nuclear waste disposal on a national basis;

application of radiation technology for scientific and medical purposes; operation of the

SAFARI-1 nuclear reactor; operation of the Pelindaba site and accompanying services; and

execution of the safeguards function.

• Electricity Distribution Industry Holdings (Pty) Ltd (EDIH) was created for the sole

purpose of executing the Department’s strategic objective of restructuring the electricity

distribution industry outlined in the White Paper on Energy Policy of 1998. The company was

to restructure the existing electricity distribution industry into six financially viable, wall-to-

wall, Regional Electricity Distributors (REDs). In December 2010, Cabinet took a decision

to discontinue the operations of EDIH and the process of creating REDs. In pursuance of

the Cabinet decision, the company is in the process of being wound up and this process is

expected to be completed during the 2011/12 financial year. 

All entities submit individual Annual Reports to the Minister, which are tabled with the DoE’s
Annual Report. A summary of the performance of the entities is listed under Programme 4:
Associated Services later on in this Report. 
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Minister’s Statement 

The Department’s first strategic planning session in August

2009 came at a time when the world economy, including that of

South Africa, was beginning to show signs of recovery from the

2008/9 economic meltdown. There were already indications of

forthcoming economic activities that would increase the

demand on the country’s energy supply – we were turning the

corner. During the session, we took cognisance of global

concerns about energy shortages and sustained high energy

prices. Within our own country, we have not made significant

investments in the energy sector. The capacity that was

created in the 1980s was sufficient to carry the country through

to the early 2000s when it became clear that the growth in

demand, fuelled by the commodity boom, outpaced power

supply and that there was an urgent need to increase supply.

The outcome of our planning highlighted, among other things, the need for South Africa to

focus on the security of energy supply through an integrated energy planning approach while

strengthening the regulatory framework within the energy sector. 

Energy Planning

We have been able to mobilise stakeholders from labour, business and civil society to make

various contributions to address this problem collaboratively. The National Stakeholder Advisory

Council on Electricity has been able to find common ground around the country’s energy mix.

During the year, the Department finalised the Integrated Resource Plan (2010–2030) (IRP)
for electricity, which Cabinet approved in March 2011. The Plan addresses the country’s energy

mix for the next 20 years. Through the IRP, we expect the following new generation capacity

contribution by 2030: 42% renewable energies, 23% nuclear energy,15% coal energy, 5% Gas,

6% Hydro and 9% Open Cycle Gas Turbine (OCGT). The implementation of the IRP will form

part of our contribution towards mitigating climate change by reducing greenhouse gas

emissions; creating new industries and jobs; providing more cost-effective energy technologies;

and helping to achieve the nation’s goals.

Parallel to the IRP process, we have started the development of the Integrated Energy Plan
(IEP). While the IRP focuses on electricity, the IEP will consider other viable options that could

even displace electricity to some extent. It will test various long-term alternatives for the energy

sector as a whole and also assess how the energy sector should contribute to broader

government objectives such as the New Growth Path and aspirations to move towards a Green

Economy. 

At the beginning of the year, we committed to the finalisation of decisions on the Independent
Systems and Market Operator (ISMO). Legislation related to the establishment of the ISMO

as a public entity was tabled and approved by Cabinet in March 2011.  That set the scene for

the next phase in establishing the ISMO. The ISMO Bill is expected to provide the institutional

structure that will level the playing field and resolve Eskom’s conflict as both buyer and seller

of electricity.

Ms Dipuo Peters, MP 

Minister of Energy



Department of Energy – Annual Report 2010/2011 7

We have also started with the review of the regulatory environment to facilitate the introduction

of power generation through the Independent Power Producers (IPPs). It is expected that the

procurement of co-generation, the Renewable Energy IPPs, certain gas projects and some

coal projects will begin in 2011. Accordingly, the Electricity Regulation Second Amendment Bill

and the National Energy Regulation Amendment Bill are being introduced to facilitate the non-

Eskom generators.

Electricity

Solar Power Generation: Despite global, positive developments in the clean energy space,

fossil fuels continue to grow, with coal outpacing other forms of energy. South Africa is no

exception. In October 2010, we hosted a successful Solar Park International Investors

Conference in Upington in the Northern Cape. While the Northern Cape holds the most

potential for the location of solar parks and has been chosen to host the pilot, preliminary

indicators are that the solar irradiation levels at most locations in South Africa are better than

in some of the countries in Europe where solar power is used. It is our intention to place South

Africa in the top quartile of solar power generation. Next year, we will be finalising the

comprehensive feasibility study on the solar park concept.  South Africa can then begin to

explore seriously the possibility of solar technologies being deployed as part of our broader

energy mix in a way that will also de-carbonize our energy.

Nuclear Energy is enjoying growing acceptance in many countries (including ours) as a stable

and clean source of energy that can help meet the growing need for electricity, while reducing

global warming and mitigating the impact of climate change. Cabinet’s approval of the IRP

paves the way for exciting new growth prospects for the South African nuclear industry and will

provide a platform for the country’s technology future. During the year, we have taken

advantage of various platforms to convey the importance of South African skills development

and construction capacity in view of the localization requirements in the Industry Policy Action

Plan (IPAP) and the New Growth Path. 

Public education remains one of the most important topics surrounding nuclear energy. During

the year under review, we continued with public outreach education programmes in this area.

The Department held round-table discussions with interested parties, including the media, as

well as public information-sharing sessions. Together with NECSA, we launched a Visitor

Centre that provides educational information to the public about nuclear power, focusing on

education institutions. Preparations for nuclear security measures during the 2010 Soccer

World Cup were completed on time and implemented during the tournament. That was done

in cooperation with relevant government departments and the International Atomic Energy

Agency.

Hydrocarbons

In the recent past, the price of oil has reached and gone beyond the $100 per barrel mark, a

fact that puts a serious financial strain on an economy that is slowly recovering from a

recession. In view of this, there is an urgent need to review the country’s strategic fuel stock
to ensure that Government, together with the oil industry, maintains reserves that will enable

us to face whatever future oil challenges that befall us. The draft Strategic Stock Policy was

developed by year-end and the regulations drafted. We will be submitting a Cabinet

Memorandum on the subject during the course of the next financial year.  
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South Africa faces significant supply infrastructure constraints. From the liquid fuel supply

infrastructure perspective, the inland infrastructure can no longer meet the demand.  More than

60% of our liquid-fuels demand lies within the Durban-to-Johannesburg corridor and the

Durban-to-Johannesburg pipeline has become inadequate to transport the required volumes

of petroleum products from the coast to the inland regions. The construction of a New Multi-
product Pipeline (NMPP) from Durban to Johannesburg was started last year. A total amount

of R4.5 billion was committed from the fiscus through the Department of Energy over a period

of three years. An amount of R1.5 billion for the 2010/11 financial year was transferred to the

Transnet Pipeline Project this year. 

State-owned Entities (SOEs)

The Electricity Deistribution Industry Holding (EDIH) company ceased operations on 31

March 2011 in line with the December 2010 Cabinet decision and it is in the process of being

wound up. An administrator has been appointed to execute the process, which is expected to

be concluded by the end of June 2011.  The process of de-registering the company will then

begin. As part of the Department’s mandate of ensuring security of energy supply, we have

started the process of reviewing the whole electricity value chain with a view to develop a

holistic approach to revitalising the electricity infrastructure. 

Last year, we institutionalised the South African National Energy Development Institute
(SANEDI) as an independent public entity, resulting from the merger of SANERI and the NEEA.

That set the stage for coordinated research and energy-efficiency and demand-side

management interventions. SANEDI will, among others, be the champion for energy efficiency

in the country. SANEDI will also house South Africa’s carbon capture and storage research

and development, as well as other energy research programmes.

In December 2010, Cabinet approved the unbundling of the AEMFC from the CEF group of

companies for it to form the nucleus of a state-owned mining company. In consultation with the

CEF Board, the Department started the process of reviewing the structure of the CEF group of

companies to consolidate the various operations, improve efficiencies and take advantage of

synergies between the various subsidiaries. This process will also be looking at ‘the future

PetroSA’ to ensure that it is best placed for its role as our national oil company. 

Energy Efficiency

Energy efficiency is widely recognised as the most fundamental short-term imperative for rapid,

ambitious and cost-effective climate change mitigation. It is the least-polluting and readily

available energy resource. In March 2011, Deputy President Kgalema Motlanthe launched the

electricity saving initiative, the 49m Campaign, supported by government departments and

Eskom, to mobilise all South Africans to save our energy and make sure that, as a country, we

take full advantage of this low-risk and low-cost option to responding to electricity supply

challenges and climate change. Other energy efficiency initiatives will be launched for industrial

and commercial customers, in partnership with stakeholders from business, labour and civil

society.
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International Relations

During the year, the Department engaged with several stakeholders to ensure that we access

information, technology, funding, and contribute to the security of product supply in the country.

Several Memoranda of Understanding (MoUs) with different countries and institutions were

signed during this period. Some of the MoUs have enabled the national oil company, PetroSA,

to pursue business initiatives in countries such as Egypt and Angola. The Department’s bilateral

relations within the continent have enabled the country to shift and diversify its sources of crude

oil from countries in the Middle-East to Angola and Nigeria. 

Conclusion

As I conclude, I would like to once again welcome the Deputy Minister of Energy, Ms Barbara

Thompson, who joined the Department in October 2010. Her contribution to the Department

over this short period has been invaluable. I would also like to congratulate the Director-

General, Ms Nelisiwe Magubane, and her team for taking the Department of Energy through

its first baby steps. It has been a challenging year, and TEAM ENERGY has triumphed. 

Ms Dipuo Peters, MP 

Minister of Energy
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Deputy Minister’s Remarks

Access to Energy

As a growing economy, the demand on energy continues to

grow, thus putting pressure on the increase in supply. Security

of energy supply goes hand in hand with accessibility to all

citizens of our country. South Africa is highly dependent on

coal-based energy generation, we are facing the challenge of

satisfying the demand side while reducing the negative impact

on the environment. 

To date, more than 70% of identified indigent households are

receiving Free Basic Energy (FBE), while less than 5%

receive free basic alternative energy that includes bio-fuels,

paraffin, LPG and other alternative sources. There are still challenges relating to the coverage

and leakage of FBE to non-qualifying households. 

The quest for universal access to electricity continues. During the year under review, the

Department continued with the implementation of the Integrated National Electrification
Programme (INEP) that is aimed at achieving universal access to electricity. In the 2010/11

financial year, we managed to create around 5 000 jobs and connected 195 000 homes to the

electricity grid and 10 000 to non-grid systems through the Programme. During the year, an

amount of R2.8 billion was spent on the two programmes of grid and non-grid connections. To

date, South Africa’s energy penetration stands at over 75%. Of the ten substations planned for

the year under review, (this includes five upgrades and five new substations), seven were

completed (four new and three upgrades). The other three are still under construction. 

The growing demand for electricity supply has put further pressure on the country’s ailing

distribution infrastructure. The electricity distribution industry is facing serious backlogs with

regard to infrastructure maintenance and refurbishment. Following the Cabinet decision to

terminate the REDs creation process, the Department started working on plans that will ensure

the stabilisation of the distribution industry. A Cabinet Memorandum on the Approach to

Distribution Asset Management (ADAM) project and the mapping of the electricity infrastructure

that is in distress is at its final stage of preparation and will serve before Cabinet shortly.  The

funding model for the ADAM project is more detailed and discussions with National Treasury

and the Development Bank of Southern Africa (DBSA) are ongoing.  

On 24 February 2010, the Energy Regulator approved the implementation of Inclining Block
Tariffs (IBTs) for domestic/residential customers in line with our pricing policy. The IBTs concept

means that the more you use electricity, the more you pay. For the Department, it is an effective

instrument for protecting the poor against increasing electricity tariffs, making electricity

accessible to all and providing cross-subsidies for low-income domestic customers.  IBTs apply

to both Eskom and municipalities and the problem relating to prepaid metering systems and

their inability to be configured to dispense IBTs required attention. A reconfiguration process has

since been completed on Eskom prepaid meters. Prepaid meters in municipalities will be done

next, as we extend coverage of IBTs to all qualifying households. Roughly 19% of the licensed

municipalities (30) have implemented IBTs for residential customers to date.

Ms Barbara Thomson, MP

Deputy Minister of Energy
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Following the initial announcement in 2009 of the Solar Water Heaters (SWH) Programme

aimed at ensuring the installation of one million systems by 2014, the Programme delivered

around 115 000 systems across the various provinces under the fiscal and rebate funding

schemes by March 2011. Challenges of funding have unfortunately delayed our 2010/11 target

of 250 000 installed units. After working on various interventions to address the funding problem

during the year under review, we are hopeful that the numbers will increase as we start the new

year. The Standard Offer Programme will introduce a new approach to funding that involves the

leveraging of private-sector investment. 

During the year under review, the Working for Energy Programme was put in operation. This

Programme has three major focus areas, namely the provision of renewable energy, energy

management and the cross-cutting human capital development. Through this Programme we

intend to diversify our energy mix and increase access to energy. The Programme also focuses

on labour-intensive options, targeting employment opportunities for rural communities, the

enhancement of stimulated local economic activity and community development through energy

provision. A budget of R20 million was allocated to selected projects during the 2010/11 financial

year. These include: the Bela-Bela Biogas Reticulation and Distribution, Greening of Robben

Island, Bio-Energy Cluster and the Carbon Fuel Tablet. These projects are expected to be

completed and commissioned during the 2011/12 financial year.

Wind energy in South Africa is considered to be one of the renewable energy sources that hold

the greatest potential of contributing towards renewable energy targets at a significantly lower

cost. For this reason, its allocation within the IRP is at 8 400 MW. 

In 2008, the Department launched a two-year technical assistance programme known as the

South African Wind Energy Programme (SAWEP) with funding from the Global Environmental

Facility. SAWEP has been prominent in activities aimed at removing potential barriers and

creating an enabling environment for this sector to thrive. Through SAWEP the Department

has also implemented the wind atlas project. The impact of the project is two-fold:

• Institutional capacity in South Africa has been developed through the collaborative

partnerships established with RISO University of Technology in Denmark, the South African

Weather Services, the Centre for Scientific and Industrial Research (CSIR) and the

University of Cape Town. This means that in the next phase, during which the atlas will be

extended to other provinces in South Africa, these institutions will be able to undertake the

work, even without technical support from abroad. 

• Through the results of the atlas, investors will be able to identify and target the 

hot spots for wind energy development.  That will reduce pre-investment costs. Since 

its launch in September 2010, downloads on the wind atlas website climbed to 6 246 

from about 237 local and international users. The website address is

http://wasadata.csir.co.za/wasa1/WASAData

Since 2009, the Department has been hosting annual wind energy seminars with the support

of the Government of Denmark. The 2010 Annual Wind Energy Seminar took place at Gallagher

Estate in Midrand in September 2010. That Seminar enabled the Department to raise the profile

of the wind energy sector in a manner that addresses some of the concerns of key stakeholders

about wind farms. Furthermore, prospective investors were enabled to identify potential

partners in South Africa and Government’s commitment to the deployment of this technology

was reaffirmed.  
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To date, the Department has established seven Integrated Energy Centres (IeCs) across the

country in its fight against energy poverty. These are one-stop energy shops owned and

operated by community cooperatives and organised as community projects.  They act as

community information hubs and ‘energy shops’ that sell illuminated paraffin (IP), LPG, candles,

petrol and diesel from oil companies and sell these products to the community at more

affordable prices. During the year under review, we completed one IeC in Qunu in the Eastern

Cape. It was officially handed over to the cooperative on 14 January 2011. The IeC will not

only reduce energy poverty in the area, but will also contribute to rural development and job

creation. The Department, together with other stakeholders, is currently reviewing the IeC

sustainability strategy developed in 2005 to ensure that it deals with all the challenges and

obstacles that it faces in rolling out these centres. During the year, the Department also started

the process of resuscitating the first two pilot IeCs that closed down because of poor

management and lack of proper governance structures.  

Conclusion

The past six months have been exciting and challenging for me as the Deputy Minister of

Energy. I would like to thank Minister Dipuo Peters, Director-General Nelisiwe Magubane and

Team Energy for their warm welcome and the partnerships we have forged during the past six

months. 

As we move forward, I am confident that “Working together, we will do more”.

Ms Barbara Thomson, MP

Deputy Minister of Energy
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Accounting Officer’s Overview 

Security of Energy Supply

Security of energy supply is becoming a key focus area

globally, mainly because of decreasing natural resources,

global warming, climate change, pollution and rapid global

growth. We, as Africans, are not alone in this race to have a

secure energy future. However, although we are blessed with

sufficient resources to cover our needs, most of our resources

are exported to develop and grow other economies, countries

and continents and we risk not having these resources or

more advanced technologies when we need them most. 

The promulgated IRP lays the foundation for the country’s

energy mix up to 2030 and seeks to find an appropriate bal-

ance between the expectations of different stakeholders.  On the other hand, the IEP, which is

currently being developed in the Department, tests different policy objectives not considered in

the IRP process and submits proposals for going forward, where relevant. The IEP will also

consider other viable options that could be considered for even displacing electricity to some

extent. 

Key to the development of the IEP is the availability of relevant, comprehensive and up-to-date

data relating to energy resources, production, consumption, and so on. The draft regulations

that make the provision of data required for energy planning mandatory for certain stakeholders

were gazetted.  However, an intervention by the state legal advisors meant that the comment

period had to be extended. Comments were received from various stakeholders and the final

regulations will be published in the second quarter of the next financial year. During the year,

the Department published a number of data-related documents. These included an energy

synopsis document, which is a compendium of key energy policies and strategies in the country.

The Energy Price Report was also published during the reporting period.

Hydrocarbons

All completed applications with the required information were processed within the prescribed

90-day period. The processing of the applications within the set time frames will provide

certainty to would-be investors and accelerate investments.  The focus in the next reporting

period will be on the reduction of the time taken to process licence applications for retail service

stations to below the prescribed period in an effort to enable accelerated job creation. 

The Department hosted an Oil and Gas Indaba focusing on the Liquid Fuels Charter in

Bloemfontein from 9−11 August.  The conference was opened by the Minister of Energy and

Deputy President Kgalema Motlanthe delivered the keynote address. The then Chairperson of

the Portfolio Committee on Energy, Ms Elizabeth Thabethe, led the participation by members

of the Committee.  Over 300 people at the conference discussed challenges faced by

historically disadvantaged South Africans (HDSAs) in terms of participation in the liquid fuels

industry.  The major oil companies presented progress reports and faced tough concerns from

stakeholders.  The conference laid an appropriate foundation for the comprehensive audit on

the compliance of the oil companies with the Liquid Fuels Charter.  

Ms Nelisiwe Magubane

Director-General: 
Department of Energy
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The Indaba was followed by a two-day parliamentary briefing session on the same matter

convened by the Portfolio Committee on Energy.  It became clear that the major oil companies

would not be in a position to comply with all the elements of the Liquid Fuels Charter.  

The Regulations on the Maximum Retail Gate Price for LPG supplied to residential customers

were promulgated in July 2010. The aim of these Regulations is to make LPG affordable so as

to increase consumption and ultimately switch consumers from electricity for thermal

applications.  Through this price regulation, money was saved for consumers.  In the coming

period, the focus will be on looking further into the pricing structure for opportunities to reduce

the price even more.   

In addition, the Department started work on an LPG strategy, the aim of which is to provide

other enablers for fuel switching by consumers. These will include local manufacturing of

cylinders, which will also contribute to the creation of jobs in the country.

Clean Fuels

During the course of the year, a framework towards the modernisation of our liquid fuels was

developed with the aim of making them cleaner and less harmful to the health of people. To this

end, a discussion document and a position paper on fuel specifications and standards were

published for the public to provide input.  

The approach we have taken in developing these specifications was underpinned by three

imperatives: First and foremost, the specifications were informed by the need to contribute to

public health. The second and third imperatives are interlinked and these are environmental

concerns and the need to put more advanced combustion engines on our roads. 

The roadmap proposed an early introduction of cleaner fuels, taking advantage of the need to

import petroleum products. The discussion document on cleaner fuels specifications and

standards was published during the year. It sets out Government’s stance on the fuel

specifications and standards that South Africa should adopt in the future and includes the

roadmap that spells out the time frames for implementation. Adopting cleaner fuels standards

and specifications will assist efforts to reduce the emission of greenhouse gases. 

In May 2010, the Minister of Energy, in her budget vote speech, committed the Department to

conduct an audit into the compliance of industry with the provisions of the Liquid Fuels Charter.

This is the first-ever empowerment charter and it reached its 10th anniversary in 2010. The

audit was completed by the end of the year and the results will be provided early next year.  

During the year, we also dealt with regulatory uncertainty in the Liquid Fuels Sector and initiated

a programme to develop regulatory accounts that will be used to reward investment in the value

chain. We completed the preparatory work and will now move towards early implementation of

some of the aspects on which decisions were taken.
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Electricity

During the year under review, the interdepartmental task team established to ensure a

comprehensive and coordinated approach to the provision of nuclear energy continued with

the development of the nuclear energy policy implementation strategy. The strategy will address

a legislative framework review; communication; procurement; funding and financing;

localisation and industrialisation, and so on.  

The establishment of strategic relationships in the area of cooperation in the peaceful use of

nuclear energy continues. To strengthen our research and development capacity and capability,

cooperation agreements on peaceful uses of nuclear energy were signed with South Korea

and Algeria during the year under review.

With regard to solar power, the Government of South Africa, through the Ministry of Energy,

signed an MoU with the Clinton Climate Initiative in October 2009 to execute a pre-feasibility

study exploring the potential of establishing a solar park in the country. 

The pre-feasibility study was completed and approved in May 2010. The work was carried out

through the review of public data and data supplied by the DoE and Eskom. Potential sites

were identified in the Northern Cape. The results indicated that the conditions in the Northern

Cape, particularly in Upington, were ideal for solar parks with a potential of 5 000 MW, which

is a figure estimated to be reasonable for the attraction of significant investment.  In view of the

positive results of the pre-feasibility study, Cabinet took a decision in September 2010 that the

Department should continue with a detailed feasibility study and host a Solar Investors

Conference. The Department hosted the Conference successfully in Upington from 28−29

October 2010.  Approximately 400 delegates, including financiers, IPPs and power utilities

attended, demonstrating their interest in the solar park initiative. In January 2011, the Minister

requested CEF to lead the Solar Park Programme feasibility study and to engage all

stakeholders in the Programme.

An Indicative Master Plan (IMP) was also completed at the end of March 2011. The purpose

of the IMP was to assist the Department in making an informed decision about whether the

land identified would be feasible for the project. The scope of services for the IMP study

included investigating the technical and economical feasibility of establishing one or more

industrial park/s dedicated to the deployment of solar technology, including photovoltaic (PV),

concentrated photovoltaic (CPV) and concentrated solar power (CSP).  FLUOR Engineers

started with this work in August 2010, prior to the solar investor conference. A high-level

presentation was done at the investor conference to provide potential investors with information

about the status of the identified sites. During 2011/12, the Department will focus on completing

a comprehensive feasibility study for the solar park.

In collaboration with other, relevant government departments, the Department developed

minimum energy performance standards and energy efficiency regulations and incentives.
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The Standard Offer (SO) Policy, an incentive scheme to support electricity efficiency and

demand-side management (DSM), which will enable developers to claim a rebate for the

amount of energy they save, was also finalised and approved. These standards and regulations

will provide a clear regulatory framework and serve as an incentive concerning proven efforts

and results in the energy efficiency sector.

The Energy Efficiency Monitoring project is a collaborative effort between the Department

and the Swiss Agency for Development and Cooperation and is aimed at ensuring that energy

efficiency policies are supported by adequate end-use information systems by substantially

increasing the effort to collect energy efficiency data and information across all sectors. The

monitoring system will enable the Department to compile annual energy efficiency data and

compare energy savings with the sector targets of the National Energy Efficiency Strategy.

The project activities include the establishment of an energy efficiency target monitoring system

and the development of energy efficiency policies and plans at local government level, starting

with five pilot municipalities, namely Sol Plaatjie, Polokwane, Rustenburg, King Sabatha

Dalindyebo and Mbombela.  

The establishment of the institutional structure for the project started in the third quarter of

2010. An MoU was concluded between the South African and Swiss governments in July 2010.

Designated National Authority (DNA) for Clean Development Mechanism
(CDM)

The Department is mandated to regulate and promote the implementation of a CDM in South

Africa. This is done to make sure that South Africa complies with its obligations under the Kyoto

Protocol and the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change. As the custodian

of CDM, the DNA is responsible for ensuring that CDM investments are in line with sustainable

development objectives and that South Africa benefits from the CDM.

For the year under review, the DNA received and reviewed 58 clean development project

proposals (52 project identification notes and six project design documents). Two projects were

registered with the CDM Executive Board. These are the Ekurhuleni Land-fill Gas Recovery

Project, which has the potential of ensuring a reduction of 243 629 ton carbon dioxide

equivalent (CO2e) per annum, and the Fuel Switch Project on the Gluten 20 dryer of the

Germiston Mill of Tongaat Hulett Starch Pty (Ltd), which has the potential of reducing 8 360 ton

CO2e per annum. 

By the end of the financial year, South Africa had 19 registered projects, six of which had been

issued with certified emission reductions amounting to 1.7 million ton CO2e. The CDM uptake

was slow, mainly because of the complexities associated with the CDM project cycle. The DNA

conducted programmes to raise awareness and to build capacity in this area.

Internal Environment

Developments in the area of the organisational environment are detailed under section 2.1.6

of this Annual Report.



Conclusion

Let me use this opportunity to express my appreciation of the leadership and support given to

me and the Department by both Minister Peters and Deputy Minister Thompson during the

DoE’s first year as an independent department. 

Team Energy, we have come so far in just one year! We have also done fairly well in our first

year. I have noted with humble appreciation the individual and group contributions and

sacrifices made during the year, all in the name of making our Department a success as we

deliver to the people of South Africa and beyond. Much still needs to be done as we forge

ahead.

Ms Nelisiwe Magubane

Director-General: Department of Energy
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2. Information on Predetermined Objectives

As a new Department, the strategic objectives that follow in the tables from pages 3 to 5, were

identified during the August 2009 strategic planning session that was based on the four

pillars/perspectives of the balanced scorecard method of planning, namely: a shareholder/

customer perspective; internal systems and processes; learning and growth; and a financial

perspective. These strategic objectives take into account decisions from various political and

government platforms, the mandate of the Department and the environment within which the

Department operates. Highlights of the Department’s achievements against the predetermined

objectives and the Department’s response to the 12 government outcomes are tabled in section

2.1.4 of this Report. Because the Government’s 12 outcomes were introduced after the

completion of the Department’s Strategic Plan, there could be minor challenges in aligning the

two processes. 

2.1 Overall Performance

2.1.1 Voted funds

Main 

Appropriation

R’000

Adjusted

Appropriation

R’000

Actual 

Amount Spent

R’000

(Over)/

Underexpenditure

R’000

5 535 390 5 648 664 5 505 386 158 138 

Responsible Minister: Minister of Energy

Administering Dept: Department of Energy

Accounting Officer: Director-General of the Department of Energy

2.1.2 Aim of vote

The aim of the DoE is to formulate and exercise oversight on the implementation of overall

energy policies to ensure access to affordable and reliable energy by all South Africans and to

promote environmentally friendly energy carriers.

2.1.3 Summary of programmes

Programme 1: Administration

Purpose: To provide strategic support and management services to the Ministry and the

Department.

Programme 2: Hydrocarbons and Energy Planning

Purpose: To provide integrated energy planning to promote the sustainable use of energy

resources by developing appropriate policies and regulations that promote the efficient use of

petroleum products, coal, gas and renewable energy sources.

Programme 3: Electricity, and Nuclear and Clean Energy

Purpose:

• To monitor developments in the electricity, nuclear and clean energy sectors.
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• To improve and implement appropriate policies governing these sectors.

• To oversee relevant public entities.

• To promote universal access to electricity by the broader South African population.

Programme 4: Associated Services

Purpose: To transfer, manage and monitor funds in support of the Department’s mandates to

funded and non-funded statutory bodies and organisations. 

2.1.4 Key strategic objective achievements 

The table below summarises the key deliverables and achievements of the Department during

the year under review. Detailed programme performance is indicated later on in the Report

under 2.2, Programme Performance.

Strategic Objective Key Achievements

1. To ensure energy security − create and maintain

a balance between energy supply and energy

demand, develop strategic partnerships, improve

coordination in the sector and ensure reliable

delivery and logistics.

1. During the year under review, the Department

developed the IRP2010-2030, which Cabinet

approved in March 2011. The promulgated IRP

lays the foundation for the country’s energy mix up

to 2030 and seeks to find an appropriate balance

between the expectations of different stakeholders. 

2. The Department also started the process of

developing the IEP. While the IRP focuses on

addressing our electricity challenges, the IEP will

consider other viable options that could be

considered for even displacing electricity to some

extent. The IEP will test different policy objectives

that were not considered during the IRP process

and will make proposals on the way forward.

3. As part of the expansion of the petroleum products

distribution infrastructure from the coast to the

inland provinces, the construction of a New Multi-

product Pipeline (NMPP) from Durban to

Johannesburg was started last year. A total amount

of R4.5 billion was committed from the fiscus

through the DoE over a period of three years. An

amount of R1.5 billion was transferred to the

Transnet Pipeline for the 2010/11 financial year.

2. To achieve universal access and transform the

energy sector − diversify the energy mix, improve

access and connectivity, provide quality and

affordable energy, promote the safe use of energy

and transform the energy sector.

1. The Department continued with the implementation

of the Integrated National Electrification

Programme (INEP) that is aimed at achieving

universal access to electricity. In the 2010/11

financial year, we managed to create over 5 000

jobs and connected 195 000 homes to the

electricity grid and 10 000 to the non-grid system

through the INEP. An amount of R2.9 billion was

spent on the two programmes during the year. To

date, South Africa’s electricity penetration stands

at over 75%. Of the ten substations planned for

2010/11, only seven were achieved (four new and

three upgrades).

2. During the year, the Department initiated and

completed the Compliance Audit on the Liquid 
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Strategic Objective Key Achievements

Fuels Charter. Outcomes of the Audit will be

reported next year. 

3. IBTs for domestic/residential customers were

approved and implemented this year. We launched

the 7th IeC in Qunu in the Eastern Cape in February

2011, continued with the implementation of the

solar water heaters programme, etc.

3. To regulate the energy sector − develop effective

legislation, policies and guidelines; encourage

investment in the energy sector; and ensure

compliance with legislation.

1. Regulations on the maximum retail grate price for

LPG supplied to residential customers were

promulgated in July 2010. Going forward, this will

set the pace for the development of the necessary

infrastructure for further savings.

2. The DoE published the roadmap for clean fuels or 

CF2. A discussion paper for public comment was

published in the Government Gazette on 8 March

2011.

3. In response to the injunction of the President in the

State of the Nation Address, the ISMO Bill was

approved by Cabinet in March 2011. 

4. To ensure effective and efficient service

delivery − understand stakeholder needs and

improve turn-around times.

1. The turn-around time for petroleum licensing was

improved. The backlog concerning the processing

of applications was cleared.  All completed licence

applications were processed within the prescribed

90 days.

2. The Department conducted the following

stakeholder events: round-table discussions, infor-

mation sessions and ten public participation events.

3. On average, job applications were finalised within

four months.

5. To ensure optimal utilisation of energy

resources − develop enabling policies and

encourage energy efficient technologies.

1. Key policy decisions: Cabinet approved the IRP

and the Independent Systems and Market

Operator Bill in March 2011, and the New

Generation/IPP Regulations were promulgated in

September 2010. The development of the IEP

kicked off this year. 

6. To ensure sustainable development − promote

clean energy alternatives, encourage economic

development and promote job creation.

1. In October 2010, we hosted a successful Solar

Park International Investors Conference in

Upington, Northern Cape. It is our intention to

place South Africa in the top quartile of solar power

generation with the simultaneous creation of green

jobs by localising manufacturing, installation,

operations and maintenance.

2. SANEDI was institutionalised, which set the stage

for coordinated research and energy-efficiency and

demand-side management interventions.

3. About 5 000 jobs were created through INEP.

7. To enhance the DoE culture, system and

people − develop a sound organisational culture;

attract and retain appropriate staff; and make the

Department an employer of choice.

1. The Department’s capacity increased from 41% at

the beginning of the year to 52% by year-end. The

average vacancy rate for the year was 10.6%

(influenced by lack of funding) and the employment

equity figures reflected 93% black and 54% women

employees. 

2. Twenty six employees were awarded bursaries.

3. Internships – Total of 55 graduates participated in

this programme.
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Strategic Objective Key Achievements

8. To promote corporate governance – use

resources optimally, manage the budget

effectively, implement fraud and risk management

and ensure compliance with relevant prescripts.

1. 97% of the 2010 budget was utilised. Details on the

deployment of HR follow in section four of the

Report.

2. Because of funding challenges, we could not

implement the risk management and fraud

prevention function in the Department during the

year. However, through the internal audit function

we were able to establish the Risk Management

Committee that assisted Internal Audit in ensuring

that risk management received attention.

The response of the DoE to the 12 government outcomes and the Millenium

Development Goals (MDGs) 

The mandate of the DoE cuts across all 12 government outcomes. The Department is not a lead

department in any of the outcomes.  However, the Minister of Energy signed five Service

Delivery Agreements in 2010.  These are listed below:

1. Outcome 2: A long and healthy life for all South Africans – electrification of clinics and health

centres through the national electrification programme; introduction of a more affordable

and cleaner source of energy (LPG) for household heating and cooking.

2. Outcome 4: Decent employment through inclusive economic growth – security of energy

supply to sustain economic growth and job creation. 

3. Outcome 6: An efficient, competitive and responsive economic infrastructure network – to

ensure reliable generation, distribution and transmission of electricity; address the backlog

challenges concerning the maintenance of electricity distribution infrastructure; and to build

the NMPP between Durban and Johannesburg to ensure a reliable and sustainable supply

of liquid fuels inland.

4. Outcome 8: Sustainable human settlement and improved quality of household life – to

contribute to support households and business via the INEP and the job opportunities

presented by the electrification programme.

5. Outcome 10: Environmental assets and natutal resources that are well-protected and

continously enhanced – reduce greenhouse gas emissions and climate change impacts,

and improve air/atmospheric quality. 

The Department’s contribution to the MDGs

Energy is central to sustainable development and poverty reduction efforts. None of the MDGs

can be met without improvement in the quality and quantity of energy services in developing

countries. 

• MDG 1: Eradicate extreme poverty and hunger – the Department’s focus is on the

eradication of energy poverty through the implementation of the national electrification

programme, energy diversification and affordability.

• MDG 3: Promote gender and equality and empower women – gender mainstreaming in
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departmental policies, support of women empowerment initiatives, introduction of clean

energy initiatives and enhancement of women participation in the energy sector.

• MDG 7: Ensure environmental sustainability – introduction and support of sustainable clean

and renewable energy initiatives. 

• MDG 8: Develop global partnerships for development − international cooperation and

collaboration at multilateral, bilateral and trilateral levels on energy issues.

2.1.5 Overview of the service delivery environment for 2010/11 

The mission of the DoE is to regulate and transform the energy sector for the provision of

secure, sustainable and affordable energy. To achieve the above, the Department is currently

split into the following three programmes that are, respectively, responsible for:

Programme 1: Administration – providing a support service to the Ministry and the

Department.

Programme 2: Hydrocarbons and Energy Planning

Hydrocarbons: developing policy and regulations to manage the petroleum, coal and natural

gas industry. The Petroleum Controller is responsible for the implementation of the Petroleum

Products Amendment Act, 2003 (Act No. 58 of 2003). 

Energy Planning: a focus on promoting the sustainable use of energy resources through

integrated energy planning.

Programme 3: Electricity, and Nuclear and Clean Energy

Electricity: developing, implementing and monitoring electricity policy and programmes. The

INEP business unit manages electrification planning, funding and implementation.

Nuclear energy: improving the governance of the nuclear sector, specifically in relation to

nuclear safety, non-proliferation and nuclear technology.

Clean energy: facilitating the implementation of renewable energy and energy efficiency

technologies, and promoting and regulating CDM activities.

Introduction

In its statement of 8 January 2010, the ruling party said: ‘... South Africa has ongoing problems

in the energy sector that require comprehensive solutions. The problems concerning energy are

broader than the huge tariff increase we have to bear. There are issues regarding our country’s

energy mix, environmental sustainability, distribution mechanisms, surcharges by local

municipalities and the role of private producers to address. We would be failing our people if

we do not address these urgently...’

The country’s strategic economic policy identifies energy as one of the drivers of economic



Department of Energy – Annual Report 2010/2011 25

growth, a sustainable environment and the supply of clean energy. One of the key lessons of

the 2008 power crisis and the 2005 fuel shortages was the need to coordinate the planning and

implementation of new investments in the electricity and liquid fuels sectors. When the new

DoE was established in 2009, one of its key objectives was to ensure that the country has an

effective planning mechanism in the energy sector.  In response, Government implemented a

planning framework for the energy sector through the Department.  The framework is anchored

in the IEP and the IRP as the instruments to drive Government’s set objectives over and above

supply adequacy. Issues like job creation, reducing greenhouse gas emissions and alignment

with the New Growth Path and Government’s programme of action form an integral part of the

Department’s plans for the future. 

Electrification

For Government to achieve the 2014 distribution penetration of the electricity grid objective, the

Department needs to ensure that the existing electricity distribution infrastructure is stable and

sustainable. The maintenance and refurbishment of the electricity distribution network has a

large financial impact, since these received minimal attention from both Eskom and

municipalities for a number of years.  Some of the infrastructure is more than 30 years old.

With the Cabinet decision to discontinue the electricity distribution industry restructuring process

to be undertaken by EDIH until 31 March 2010 and that were to culminate in the establishment

of six wall-to-wall, financially viable REDs, the focus is now on the implementation of

interventions to ensure the stabilisation and sustainability of the distribution infrastructure.

The distribution of electricity by municipalities is driven by political and social responsibility that

ensures that tariff increases do not affect the poorest of the poor. This is achieved through the

implementation of indigent policy and block tariffs to ensure the electrification of every

household and the supply of energy for that purpose. To this end, NERSA approved the

implementation of IBTs for domestic/residential customers in October 2010. This is an effective

way of protecting the poor against increasing electricity tariffs, making electricity accessible to

all and providing cross-subsidies for low-income domestic customers. 

Concerning the INEP, every effort was made to ensure that Eskom and municipalities utilise the

funding available for the programme effectively. As more areas get electrified, challenges of

sparsely populated rural areas and the capacity of existing distribution infrastructure slow down

the electrification programme. There is a growing need for new and refurbished substations to

carry the distribution load.  At the same time, the cost-per-connection is also increasing.  

Clean Energy

South Africa generates most of its electricity from coal. Coal is abundant and cheap compared

with other sources of energy for the production of electricity. Given the climate change

imperatives and the need to reduce greenhouse gas emissions, the Department has been

exploring the possibility of reducing carbon emissions from our local coal power stations.

Carbon capture use and storage (CCUS) are potential technologies that could be deployed on

a commercial scale to reduce carbon dioxide emissions. The Department has neither the

financial nor the technical capabilities to engage in research in this field and has to rely on

inventions from developed countries. To this end, the Department engaged with the

international Clean Energy Ministerial to collaborate on CCUS, and to learn and exchange
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information on CCUS technologies. The Department received financial support to develop the

local capacity at research institutes and universities and to initiate training at postgraduate level

to enhance the country’s state of readiness to deploy CCUS technology once commercialised.

As a result of financial support secured through bilateral and multilateral relations, SANEDI is

able to operate the CCUS Centre and conduct research. Through SANEDI, South Africa

developed a CCUS Atlas of South Africa and donor funds secured through bilateral relations

are used to conduct definitive studies on the storage capacity of identified sites in the country.

The geopolitical dynamics that influence the climate change discourse also presented an

opportunity for South Africa to exploit its vast solar and other renewable energy resources,

given the interest of investors to participate in our nascent market. The successful hosting of

the Solar Park International Investors Conference in the Northern Cape in October 2010 was

an indication of South Africa’s seriousness to explore the possibility of deploying solar

technology as part of our broader energy mix in a way that would also de-carbonise our energy.

Localisation in this programme will be a key priority for Government, and meaningful

participation across the value chain for the benefit of our people will be pursued. 

Over and above this, the Department will be participating in hosting the Conference of Parties

(COP17) in December 2011. The Conference is aimed at brainstorming climate change, the use

of green energy as a mechanism for job creation, the reduction of carbon emissions and taking

advantage of technological developments in the industry. The outcome of the Conference will

contribute to the mechanisms that are already in place to create opportunities for alternative

energy supply through solar heating and renewable energy sources. This forms part of the

initiative to improve the supply-and-demand side of energy and create job opportunities.

The DoE is currently working on the energy infrastructure expansion programme, which

requires substantial capital investment that cannot be met by an internal mobilisation of

domestic capital. Through bilateral relations, the Department has enabled business to secure

joint venture projects with foreign countries that are now investing in the energy sector,

particularly in the clean energy sector such as renewables.

Nuclear Energy

The approval of the IRP by Cabinet within days of the Fukushima Nuclear Plant disaster in

Japan, shows the country’s commitment to moving forward with clean energy solutions.  As a

responsible country, we will review the nuclear safety standards continuously as we move

forward with the implementation of our nuclear plans. Lessons learnt from the Fukushima

disaster will form part of our plans going forward. 

Hydrocarbons

The hydrocarbons environment in the country was characterised by significant changes with the

increasing number of new entrants, both local and international, in the market. In addition, the

Southern African region witnessed a number of downstream ownership changes. Although

these did not include South Africa, they can, potentially, impact on local manufacturing and

wholesale businesses.

The Department also had to contend with a number of unplanned shutdowns at the
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manufacturing (refining) centres in the country, which resulted in sporadic supply disruptions.

The initiation of the 20-year infrastructure plan was in part to respond to these ever-growing

challenges. The need to invest in new refining infrastructure is clearly there. Consumers had

to contend with the increasing prices of petroleum products as a result of the increase in crude

oil prices as the global economy started on a path towards recovery. The interventions the

Department intends making in this regard is the fuel-efficiency programmes.

Challenges on the transformation front continued. In this regard, the Department commissioned

an audit into compliance with the Liquid Fuels Charter. Among the areas that were investigated

was the equitable distribution of retail businesses within the sector of our society. An

intervention will be required in this regard during the coming years.

Report on virement between the main appropriation allocations

A total of R7.36 m was shifted between programmes as approved by the Accounting Officer and

National Treasury in February 2011. (Details of the virement are listed in the financials section

of this Report.)

Rollover funds 

At the end of the year, the Department had an unspent budget amounting to R143.283 million.

The Department requested approval to roll over funds of R100.41 million, which included

transfers and subsidies that were not paid to non-grid service providers and the renewable

energy subsidy scheme before 31 March 2011. (Details are provided in the financials section

of the Report.)

2.1.6 Overview of the organisational environment for 2010/11

Following the President’s announcement of the split of the former Department of Minerals and

Energy (DME) into two separate departments, namely the Department of Mineral Resources

(DMR) and the DoE in May 2009, transitional arrangements were embarked on to ensure

continuous and uninterrupted service delivery to the South African public. During an interim

phase commencing in October 2009 and ending on 31 March 2010, support services

components provided a shared service to both departments under the leadership of the hosting

DMR. The main purpose of the aforementioned arrangement was to allow sufficient time for

restructuring and the establishment of two separate departments, both with sufficient capacity

to deliver on their mandates. 

During this period, the Department presented its organisational structure for approval by the

Minister and the concurrence of the Minister of the Public Service and Administration. The new

establishment for the DoE resulted in the introduction of the following four new line-function

branches: Policy Development, Energy Operations, Nuclear Energy and Integrated Energy

Planning. The review of the structure was mainly informed by, among others, the desire to

address shortcomings in identified service delivery gaps and to enhance effective performance

across the Department. At a strategic level, an additional component, the Office of the COO,

was introduced to focus on the strategic alignment of government priorities and the work of the

Department and its state-owned entities (SOEs); to conduct performance monitoring and

evaluation; and to oversee the reporting of SOEs to the Minister of Energy.
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With the finalisation and approval of the Department’s budget for the 2010/11 MTEF period

two months before the start of the financial year, the Department had to establish an interim

structure that would ensure the provision of critical positions for the establishment of a new

department, taking into account the limited funds (i.e. only 30% of the budget of the DME). 

The Department started operating with 41% of its capacity in April 2010.  Later on in the year,

that gradually increased to 52% of the capacity required. The Department nevertheless

managed to fill some of the critical positions required to establish a fully functional support

services function. The posts of COO and CFO were filled on 1 May 2010 and 1 December

2010, respectively. Critical resignations during this period included that of the Acting CFO

(01/04/2010–30/11/2010), leaving a weak management support in the Office of the CFO. 

On average, the vacancy rate for the past year (based on the approved interim structure) was

10.6%, which is well within the prescribed norm of 10% to 12%. All processes and procedures

were streamlined to ensure that vacancies are filled within a period not exceeding four months. 

Concerning the employment equity figures of the Department, black people constituted 93%,

while women constituted 54%. The Department attracted a young workforce. At the end of the

financial year, 65% of the employees were younger than 35 years. This implied the need for

investing in the training and development of staff. However, because of a lack of sufficient

funding, not all the training gaps could be addressed.

Capacitating the Department for service delivery remains a key focus area and this will be

informed by an Integrated Human Resource Plan aligned to the strategic outcomes of the

Department as agreed to by the Minister and the President from time to time. The Department

will also ensure that the National Skills Development Strategy is implemented and participate

in the governance structures of the relevant Sector Education and Training Authorities (SETAs)

in the energy sector.

The following governance structures were established during the year: the Internal Audit

function; the Audit Committee; Strategy and Risk Management; Monitoring and Evaluation; the

Procurement Committee; and committees related to HR.   

The Department is currently sharing office accommodation with the DMR at the Trevenna

Campus in Pretoria.  Although the accommodation is of a good quality, it does not meet the

needs of the new DoE. The accommodation space does not allow for any increase in the

structure, which currently poses a risk because the Department has already out-grown the

available capacity. The Department is also sharing office accommodation with the DMR at

regional-office level. This is limiting the Department’s ability to establish a department with its

own identity.

2.1.7 Key policy developments and legislative changes 

1. New Generation/IPP Capacity Regulations were promulgated in September 2010.

2. The Petroleum Products Amendment Act, 2003 (Act No. 58 of 2003) – amendment

postponed pending the finalisation of the Liquid Fuels Charter compliance audit.

3. Cabinet approval of the ISMO in March 2011.

Department of Energy – Annual Report 2010/2011
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2.1.8 Departmental revenue, expenditure and other specific topics 

Collection of departmental revenue

Departmental revenue is derived from the receipt of administration fees for licence applications

processed in terms of the Petroleum Products Amendment Act, 2003 (Act No. 58 of 2003).

Revenue has grown at an average annual rate of 71% from R1.2 million in 2007/08 to R3.5

million in 2009/10, following the full implementation of the Act and the licensing of retailers,

wholesalers and manufactures. Revenue is expected to increase marginally over the Medium

Term Expenditure Framework (MTEF) in line with new applications received.  

The Department’s aim was to collect R3.6 million in revenue in the 2010/2011 financial year.

The Department is proud to report that it exceeded that target. The total revenue collected

amounted to R3.9 million, which is 6.4% more than the target. That can be ascribed mainly  to

the higher amount in application fees collected as a result of the improved level of compliance

by applicants. 

2.1.9 Departmental expenditure 

The original appropriation received for the Department on 1 April 2010 amounted to R5.54

billion.  In the adjusted budget, the appropriation was increased by R113.27 million to a total

budget allocation of R5.65 billion for the 2010/11 financial year.  The increase was appropriated

to cover approved rollover funds of R61 million relating to the Working for Energy Project 

(R5 million) and non-grid electrification projects (R56 million) under INEP. An additional R3.8

million was allocated for higher personnel remuneration increases than provided for in the

original 2010/11 budget.  An amount of R48.474 million was also appropriated additionally

following the receipt of these funds from the DMR and the shift of energy functions to the

Department. An amount of R14.94 million was allocated for the compensation of employees to

cater for unfunded positions and R37.09 million was allocated for the procurement of goods and

services to cater for additional expenditure associated with the establishment of the

Department. The remainder was allocated to transfer payments (R61 million) and R250 000.00

for the procurement of capital assets. 

Of the total budget of R5.65 billion appropriated, the major portion of the budget (95.68%) was

utilised for transfers to municipalities, SOEs and other organisations. Compensation of

employees amounted to 2.6% and operational funding for goods and services to 1.66%. Of

the total budget appropriated to the DoE, approximately 4.3% was utilised for operational costs.

The total spending for the year amounted to 97.5% and the unspent budget amounted to

R143.278 million.

2.1.10 Transfer payments  

As at 31 March 2011, the Department had disbursed transfer payments of R5.26 billion to public

entities, municipalities and implementing agencies. That represented 97.38% of the budget for

the year. 
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Transfer 

Payments

Original 

Budget 

2010/11

Year-to-date

Transfer

Payments – up

to 31 March 2011

Balance as at 31

March 2011

Actual Spending

for the Year as %

of Total Budget

Allocation

R'000 R'000 R'000 %

Working for
Energy Project

20 000 20 000 0 100.00

REFSO 20 678 487 20 191 2.36

Transnet Pipelines 1 500 000 1 500 000 0 100.00

EDSM – Eskom 108 900 108 900 0 100.00

EDSM –
Municipalities

220 000 220 000 0 100.00

NECSA 574 110 574 110 0 100.00

NNR 19 954 19 954 0 100.00

EDIH 66 582 61 582 5 000 92.49

INEP – Eskom 1 719 810 1 719 810 0 100.00

INEP –
Municipalities

1 020 104 1 018 522 1 582 99.84

INEP – Non-grid 124 200 9 902 114 298 7.97

Totat Transfer

Payments**

5 394 338 5 253 267 141 071 97.38

The underspending can be attributed to:

• Conditional grants totalling R1.58 million in respect of the INEP grid programme that were

not disbursed because of delays in late funding requests from municipalities and time frames

attached to bank verification processes. 

• A transfer payment of R5 million for the National Electricity Response Team (NERT – PMO)

that was not disbursed before 31 March 2011.  (Details are provided in the financials section

of the Report.)

• Transfer payments of R114.29 million for the INEP earmarked for transfer to non-grid

electrification projects were not made because of delays concerning service agreements,

late fund requests from municipalities and the time frames attached to bank verification

processes. During the 2010/11 financial year, an amount of R124.2 million (including R56

million allocated additionally through the 2009/10 rollover process) was allocated for the

non-grid electrification of household projects under the INEP. Actual transfer payments made

to non-grid concessionaires on 31 March 2011 amounted to R9.9 million. The Department

submitted a request for rollover funds of R60 million to cover expenditure during the 2011/12

financial year for SWH projects and schools connections.
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2.1.11 Conditional grants and earmarked funds 

The table below provides a summary of the type of grant(s), total allocations and the transfer

trends for 2010/11:

Schedule 6A: National Electrification Programme

Province Total Allocation Total Transfers

R’000 R’000

Western Cape 78 324 78 324

Northern Cape 28 675 28 675

Eastern Cape 234 300 234 300

Mpumalanga 98 436 98 436

Limpopo 139 761 134 681

North West 59 122 52 967

KwaZulu-Natal 123 303 123 303

Free State 88 456 87 988

Gauteng 82 580 75 740

Total 923 957 914 413

Schedule 7: National Electrification Programme

Province Total Allocation Total Transfers

R’000 R’000

Western Cape 125 689 125 689

Northern Cape 31 540 31 540

Eastern Cape 397 753 397 753

Mpumalanga 99 843 99 843

Limpopo 183 416 183 416

North West 99 209 99 209

KwaZulu Natal 385 057 385 057

Free State 50 708 50 708

Gauteng 94 150 94 150

Total 1 467 365 1 467 365

Conditional grants transferred in terms of Division of Revenue Act (DORA) are disclosed in

Annexure 1A. The Department transferred 99.87% of all DORA transfers. Refer to Annexure

1A for detailed transfers to municipalities.
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2.1.12 Capital investment, maintenance and asset management plan 

Capital investment

The Department did not implement a capital investment and asset management plan because

of resource challenges. However, the Department will be implementing processes and

procedures to ensure that resources are available to implement and monitor the above plan.

The Department spent R3.3 million on capital assets in the 2010/2011 financial year. The

majority of assets purchased were computers and other equipment to allow the Department to

perform optimally.

The Department will develop and implement the capital investment, maintenance and assets

management plan in the 2011/12 financial year. As a temporary measure, the Department is

utilising the former DME-approved policies as agreed on by the two Directors-General.

Asset management

The DoE purchased new assets to the value of R3.3 million and received assets to the value

of R18.993 million from the DMR. The transfers provided a number of challenges. However, the

Department was able to overcome all such challenges and successfully compiled an asset

register. 

The Department does not have immovable assets and our significant assets are motor vehicles

and computer equipment. The Department implemented a number of processes and

procedures to ensure that the asset register is up to date. These initiatives include, among

others: 

• Increasing the resources of the Assets Management Division.

• Changes to the reporting lines for assets management to enhance internal controls.

• Monthly assets verification and reconciliations.

Maintenance

Currently, the assets of the Department consist mainly of new assets and assets transferred

from the DMR. They are, therefore in good, working condition. As a result, there was no major

maintenance of assets.

The Department will take over the assets of EDIH in the new financial year. EDIH is a company

that is 100% owned by the state via the Department.  It is in the process of de-registering and

ceasing operations. 

The Department’s Head Office and regional offices are all located in leased, private properties.

The Head Office is housed at the Trevenna Campus in Pretoria, which is a newly constructed

building that does not require major maintenance services. At regional-office level, offices are

shared with the DMR that is the custodian of all operating lease agreements and that is

responsible for the payment of leases.  Payments on behalf of the DoE are claimed back from

the Department. During the financial year under review, there was no major maintenance work

and, as such, no costs were claimed back from the DoE.   
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Expenditure relating to maintenance is limited to the maintenance of office equipment,

departmental vehicles, and IT equipment and infrastructure. During the 2010/11 financial year,

the Department spent R283 388.61 on the maintenance of machinery and equipment and

R142 240.99 on the maintenance of other assets. 

In view of the above, the Department did not incur expenditure that was not planned and

budgeted for in accordance with industry norms. The Department did not have any backlogs

during the period under review.

2.2 Programme Performance

The activities of the DoE are organised in the following programmes:

• Programme 1: Administration

• Programme 2: Hydrocarbons and Energy Planning

• Programme 3: Electricity, and Nuclear and Clean Energy

• Programme 4: Associated Services

Programme 1: Administration (Ministry, Office of the Director-General and Support

Services)

Purpose: To provide strategic support and management services to the Ministry and the

Department.

• Subprogramme: Directorate – Internal Audit 

• Subprogramme: Branch – Office of the COO

• Subprogramme: Branch – Corporate Services

• Subprogramme: Branch – Office of the CFO

With only 30% of both the financial and HR of Support Services (Programme 1) being allocated

to the DoE, the budget provided for the compensation of employees could only cater for

existing/transferred employees. Additional resources could not be sourced. Later in the year,

the misallocated funds were received from the DMR, which presented an opportunity to start

with the filling of identified, critical posts. The poor state of affairs required most employees in

the support function to perform the duties of two or more people.

At the beginning of the year, the Corporate Services Branch of the Department consisted of the

following components: Chief Directorate: Human Resources; Chief Directorate: Communication

and International Coordination; Chief Directorate: Strategy, Risk and Monitoring; and the

Directorate: Legal Services. In May 2010, the Branch was split and the Office of the COO was

established comprising the following Chief Directorates: Strategy and Risk Management;

Monitoring and Evaluation; International Coordination; and State-owned Entities Oversight.

Subprogramme: Internal Audit

A summary of the performance of Internal Audit is included in the Report of the Accounting

Officer in the Annual Financial Statements.
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Subprogramme: Office of the COO

This Branch started operating in May 2010 with a capacity below 1%. This resulted in the Office

of the COO being unable to fully establish its various components, since the majority of the

personnel in this function remained with the DMR. Personnel in the Branch, as in most areas

in Support Services, had to perform extra duties to ensure that the prioritised functions were

performed. The unit was able to ensure that (1) jointly with the DMR, the last DME’s Annual

Report was produced and tabled on time; and (2) the Department’s annual strategic planning

session was held in November 2010. The new outcomes-based planning approach of

Government was introduced and implemented at the session. The Department’s 2011/12 MTEF

(five-year plan) was tabled in February 2011 and later presented to the Parliamentary Portfolio

Committee on Energy and the Select Committee on Economic Development. Together with

the Internal Audit function, governance structures were established and relevant departmental

policies were developed.

The Branch also continued to provide oversight of SOEs reporting to the Minister by ensuring

that their strategic plans and budgets were aligned to the Department’s priorities and that they

were submitted on time. It also continued to monitor performance against approved plans and

ensured that all SOE Boards were fully capacitated by appointing board members for the CEF,

PetroSA and NERSA. Following the Cabinet decision to halt the operations of EDIH, the Branch

has been leading the winding-up process in collaboration with the appointed Administrator and

EDIH Board.  

The DoE conducted several international engagements and signed bilateral agreements with

a number of countries, including China, South Korea, Egypt, Algeria, Angola, Switzerland and

Zambia. The agreements will enable South Africa to work with these countries in the energy

space. One of the outstanding achievements is the agreement in terms of which the Peoples’

Republic of China committed itself to provide a loan of US$20 billion for energy infrastructure

development. Such a loan will go a long way towards assisting the country in meeting the

country objective of doubling our current generation capacity, as stipulated in the IRP. Besides

funding opportunities, some of the agreements provided for capacity building in the energy

sector, especially concerning clean energy technologies. For instance, some governments are

assisting South Africa in developing a state of readiness that will enable the country to deploy

clean coal technologies, such as CCUS. Partly a result of such assistance, the Department

now has a CCUS Atlas and has established a CCUS Centre that provides capacity building at

universities and government institutions.

The vacant posts in this Branch have been listed among the critical posts in the Department

and will be prioritised as and when funds become available.

Subprogramme: Corporate Services

Through the HR function, the Department’s average vacancy rate for the year was 10.6%,

which was well within the prescribed norm of 10% to 12%. That was based on the approved

interim organisational structure. What makes this a remarkable achievement is the fact that

the Department managed to fill the first 95 critical posts within a short space of time. All

processes and procedures were streamlined to ensure that vacancies were filled within a period

not exceeding four months. 
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With regard to the employment equity figures of the Department for the year under review,

black people represented 93% of the total staff compliment, while women comprised 54% of

the total staff complement. The majority of employees were younger than 35 years of age and,

therefore, fell in the youth category. They constituted 65% of the staff complement at the end

of the financial year. That made it necessary for the Department to spend more on the training

and development of staff.  However, not all the training gaps identified could be addressed

because of financial constraints.  The Department, nonetheless, managed to train 262

employees in the following identified areas: 

• Advanced Management Development Programme 

• Financial Management for Non-financial Managers 

• Excellent Customer Service for Frontline Staff 

• Job Evaluation, Core and Job Description 

• Anti-fraud and Corruption 

• Leadership and Management

• Human Resource Management 

• PERSAL training 

• Computer Training (Microsoft, Excel, Word and PowerPoint) 

• Basic Accounting System (BAS) 

• SCOA 

• Data Protector 

• Fire-arm Target Practice 

• Departmental Induction Programme and Public Service Induction Programme 

Thirty nine employees were awarded internal bursaries, but only 26 accepted the offer.  In

addition, 55 unemployed graduates and 12 students (in the civil, chemical and mechanical

engineering fields) were engaged in an internship programme.  

The Chief Directorate: Human Resources, together with the Government Communication and

Information System (GCIS), developed and implemented the Energy Efficiency Awareness

Campaign.  A number of radio dramas, a TV series on E-TV and other SABC channels, as well

as billboards and newspaper adverts were utilised for the Campaign that was led by the GCIS.

It has subsequently been handed over to the Department. The Chief Directorate is currently

revisiting the strategy to allow partnerships with other stakeholders, such as business, local

government, organised labour and other energy players. Marketing material such as stickers,

flyers, paper bags and desktop stickers were produced and distributed to communities and

public servants during internal and external information sessions.

A total of ten Public Participation Programmes (PPPs) were conducted during the fiscal period

under review in accordance with a Cabinet pronouncement. PPPs provide platforms for the

Minister, Deputy Minister, Director-General and other senior officials to interact with

communities, civil societies and other organised structures in an unmediated manner. It also

presents community members with an opportunity to address their concerns on service delivery

issues and get immediate responses and commitments. The Department partnered with SOEs

such Eskom, NERSA, the NNR, PetroSA, EDIH and NECSA, which were also given the

opportunity to educate communities about their services and how communities could benefit

from the different opportunities offered by the government entities. The PPPs have proved to

be a successful platform to engage civil societies across all government spheres.
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Subprogramme: Office of the CFO 

Purpose: To ensure alignment of the budget to the Department’s strategic objectives and

related key priorities, including the monitoring of and reporting on donor funding, cash flow

management, financial management and the monitoring of compliance with the PFMA;  and to

provide accurate, timely and relevant financial information.

Background information

The CFO’s Branch comprises the following components: Financial Planning and Management

Accounting; Supply Chain Management; Information Technology; and Expenditure

Management.

Following the split of the DME and the subsequent establishment of the DoE, all relevant DME

policies and procedures were adopted as an interim arrangement during the first year of

operation. These are, however, subject to review and implementation of revised policies during

the 2011/12 financial year. The Branch started operating with the critical posts of CFO, Chief

Director and Director of Finance vacant. The newly promoted Finance Director acted as the

CFO until the appointment of the Deputy Director-General in December 2010.    

Progress and achievements

Progress made

The actual target to be spent on Black Economic Empowerment (BEE) procurement is 40% and

the Department managed to reach 48.7% in the 2010/11 financial year. The procurement of

goods and services was done in accordance with the Preferential Procurement Policy

Framework Act and the Public Financial Management Act (PFMA) to ensure fairness, value

for money, competitive bidding processes and transparency and to ensure that BEE spending

was in accordance with the departmental target. The database, checklists and requisition forms

were reviewed and implemented. 95% of creditors was paid within 30 days.

The resolution of Information and Technology (ICT) calls logged through the Helpdesk improved

significantly – the monthly average of 98.6% call resolution exceeded the monthly target set at

95%. Furthermore, the call resolution turn-around time decreased with 90% of calls being

resolved within eight hours.

Server availability is critical to maintaining the availability of systems and all but one server

achieved 99% availability. The server with 85% availability, which is housed at Parliament in

Cape Town, is a replication of the user authentication server in the Data Centre and the 85%

availability figure does, therefore, not impact on the general availability of systems. Corrective

efforts were, however, implemented to improve the availability of the Parliament server.

Improvements on network availability and optimal bandwidth utilisation were achieved through

the implementation of internet access restriction technologies. For instance, access to sites

that contributed to reduced network response times was blocked, resulting in network

availability of 99%.  That exceeded the network availability target of 95%.
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Furthermore, ICT infrastructure security was enhanced proactively. It is worth mentioning that

the Department did not experience any major ICT security incidents during the period under

review

Progress partially achieved

A workshop on mainframe application systems and the procurement of Attachmate terminal

emulation software licences formed part of the implementation of the Virtual Private Network

(VPN). Supply Chain Management is in the process of finalising the software licensing order.

The VPN service level agreement (SLA) will be concluded once implementation of the VPN has

been finalised. 

A SWH map was published (www.energy.gov.za/swh/default.html) as part of phase 1 of the

project.  However SWH installation data remained outstanding. The remainder of requirements

will be implemented as phase 2 of the project. 

Progress concerning the development of a Parliamentary Questions System (PQS) and the

DoE Intranet was minimal because priority was given to the development of the SWH map.

Depending on the availability of stakeholders, the implementation of a PQS and the Intranet

should be completed by 31 August 2011.

Eight policies were identified, five of which were adopted as approved.  Three remained subject

to review and approval. 

During the 2010/11 financial year, the Subdirectorate: Internal Control and Reporting, conducted

a review of the payment process. As part of internal processes, an internal cellular phone

application form was developed and implemented to align forms with existing processes.

No SLAs were signed because of a lack of resources to deal effectively with the development

and signing of SLAs. The development and signing of three SLAs were postponed to the

2011/12 financial year.  These included SLAs for cellular phone, telephone and banking

services. The Risk Management function is in the process of vetting senior management

service members to indentify critical positions for security clearance. 

Progress not achieved

The Branch invited the registration of service providers and 700 were vetted. However, because

of technical issues (the Information Technology function found the Intenda system to be corrupt)

their information could not be captured on the system.  New Terms of Reference (ToR) were

developed to acquire a new database system in the next financial year.

Challenges and remedies

The Branch continued to implement control and reporting processes to ensure compliance.

The review of internal policies and procedures and their implementation, and the strengthening

of internal controls to ensure PFMA compliance will be a priority area to be addressed during

the new reporting cycle.
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The alignment of budgets with strategic plans remained a challenge, taking into consideration

the fact that strategic planning sessions and events only took place after the approval of the

MTEF budget and 2010 Estimates of National Expenditure (ENE).  Budget adjustments and

additions were, however, included in the 2010 Adjusted Estimates of National Expenditure

(AENE) process to re-align allocated budgets with actual expenditure and high spending areas. 

During the 2010/2011 MTEF and ENE process, the Directorate: Financial Planning and

Management Accounting obtained approval for the adjustment of the 2010/2011 budget

structure to align budget allocations with the organisational and establishment structures. The

training of staff and the implementation of development plans were very limited and subject to

business continuity and the availability of resources in the absence of staff. Both senior and

junior vacant positions contributed to time constraints and consequent limitations placed on

training.
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Programme 2: Hydrocarbons and Energy Planning

Purpose: To undertake integrated energy planning to promote the sustainable use of energy

resources. To develop appropriate policies, implement regulations and monitor compliance

within the hydrocarbons sector.   

Hydrocarbons develops policy and regulations to manage petroleum, coal and LNG. The

Petroleum Controller is included under this subprogramme and is responsible for the

implementation of the Petroleum Product Amendments Act (2003). 

Energy Planning promotes the sustainable use of energy resources through integrated energy

planning.

Objectives and measures

• Ensure sustainable supply and demand of energy by developing the integrated energy

planning strategy by September 2010 to guide the development of a national integrated

energy plan.

• Improve the security of energy supply through fostering investments in storage for liquid

fuels by developing the national strategic fuel stocks policy by March 2011.

• Provide oversight over the construction of the NMPP and capital transfers specifically

allocated for the pipeline over the MTEF period, as sourced from levies, by regularly

publishing progress reports. Encourage research into and the development of energy-

related technologies with a key focus on energy efficiency, and mitigate greenhouse gases

by establishing SANEDI by March 2011.

• Strengthen the regulatory framework in the petroleum products industry by implementing the

regulatory accounting system before March 2011.

• Improve the countrywide availability of petroleum products by licensing retail, manufacturing

and wholesale operators within 90 days of receiving confirmation of the publication of licence

holder applications.

• Facilitate the participation of historically disadvantaged individuals in the petroleum sector

by licensing 25% of all licence applications by historically disadvantaged individuals in each

year of the MTEF period.

Progress achieved

One of the measures adopted by HEP to gauge a “diversified energy mix” was the “% increase

in the use of LPG for thermal purposes”. A “20% increase of LPG usage in households” was

deemed to be achievable by the target date of 2010/11. A draft LPG Strategy was developed

by way of extensive consultations. As reported in the mass media, the Department will soon

publish an LPG strategy in a bid to encourage greater use of LPG in the place of electricity.

That could assist in delaying the need for new electricity generation capacity. Currently, 5% of

South Africans use LPG and the intention is to target at least one million additional users over

the next five years.

The measure concerning “revised fuel specifications and standards” and its associated target

of “stakeholder consultation workshops and a draft roadmap” was met in the form of a Clean

Fuels 2 discussion document, which was presented to the interdepartmental task team. The

document was to be published for public comment after internal approval. Subsequently, it was
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published on 8 March 2011 for comment by 6 May 2011. This forms part of preparations for

South Africa’s importation of Euro V-type fuels in 2013 and the local production of these fuels

from 2017.

The measure of “establishment of SANEDI” was achieved. The business plan for the creation

of SANEDI was approved. SANEDI will be formally established on 1 April 2011 through an

already-published Presidential Proclamation. The purpose of SANEDI is to assist the state in

achieving its strategic objectives as set out in the National Energy Act, 2008 (Act No. 34 of

2008), namely to promote the diversification of energy supply and to ensure that emerging

energy technologies are incubated and commercialised, and to ensure that appropriate human

capital is developed to support new energy-related industries. In sum, SANEDI constitutes a

nationally focused energy research, development and innovation institution mandated to

explore and undertake energy efficiency measures with a strong relevance for South Africa.

Other progress included an infrastructure database report containing maps and further

improvements to the energy statistics database.

Progress partially achieved

Concerning the IEP under the measure of having “balanced energy supply and demand”, it

was expected that the IEP would be published for comment by 31 March 2011. Further revisions

were made to the Plausible Futures and the IEP methodology within the IEP Strategy.

Significant work was done in developing the IEP with the IEP methodology, the Plausible

Futures and the IEP Strategy documents finalised.  However, the IEP Strategy was not

approved by Cabinet for publication as was originally envisaged. The Centre for Scientific and

Industrial Research (CSIR) was contracted to develop the modelling system for the IEP and

work on that commenced. The scope of developing the IEP was found to be far more

challenging than was originally expected, particularly the amount of work required to analyse

and evaluate different policies. Availability of relevant data at the required level of detail for

energy modelling purposes remains a key concern, which is difficult to address in the short

term. 

For the measure, “implementation of a fuel strategic stocks policy”, a Draft Strategic Stocks

Policy was developed and associated regulations drafted. A Cabinet Memorandum was also

prepared to seek approval for publication and public comment. The consultation process,

particularly with National Treasury, took longer than expected.  However, that was necessary

because of the concurrence required for the use of public funds for the construction of storage

tanks by Government.

Against the annual target of establishing two IeCs, one was established in Qunu in the financial

year, while another at Mbizana was scheduled for completion by May 2011. The extension

across fiscal years was approved by the Minister because of factors beyond the Department’s

control.  

Regarding the measure of the establishment of an “empowerment framework” to achieve the

outcome of “effective legislation, policies and guidelines”, the stated target of undertaking

stakeholder consultations was on track. However, a comprehensive review of the Liquid Fuels

Charter also meant the postponement of the Petroleum Products Amendment Act into the next

financial year, since the Charter is currently appended to the Act.
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What is more, the measure of undertaking a “number of licence inspections” was set at a target

of 3 660, but only 2 460 were conducted during the year under report. The budget and a lack

of vehicles for inspectors in the Northern Cape and Free State for the month of December were

cited as constraints. However, apparently this did not account for the total shortfall,

necessitating the Branch to recommend a reduction of more than 100% in the target set from

3 660 to 1 500 inspections per annum. Perhaps a more reasonable target would be 2 148 (537

per quarter).

Similarly, only 360 petroleum licensing applications out of 600 were processed within 90 days

(60%). 

Other partial progress achieved concerned the development of data collection regulations that

three Cabinet Ministers provided comments on.  Their comments were incorporated into the

regulations for final gazetting. Original time frames were extended as a result of the

requirements of state law advisors for concurrence by other Cabinet Ministers before gazetting

the regulations. 

In addition, the final report on the regulatory accounting system was submitted internally, but

execution awaited a departmental implementation plan and audited 2009 data from the industry.

Progress not achieved

Although the DoE transferred the entire R1.5 billion for the construction of the MPP from Durban

to Gauteng to Transnet in terms of the Grant Funding Agreement, installation of the 24-inch

trunk-line was delayed pending a workable funding mechanism.

In aiming to achieve the outcome of “balanced energy supply and demand”, an important

measure was incorporated into the Strategic Plan, namely the identification and filling of

regulatory gaps. The target for this measure was set at 50%.  However, this was done in the

absence of a baseline. In reporting progress, HEP provided examples of gaps (CNG and coal

bed methane) but neither a comprehensive assessment of existing regulatory gaps, nor the

necessary activities to close those gaps. It is only in identifying the scope of the problem

(establishing a baseline) that a percentage reduction of any size can be assessed.



Department of Energy – Annual Report 2010/2011 53

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 2

: 
H

y
d
ro

c
a
rb

o
n
s
 a

n
d
 E

n
e
rg

y
 P

la
n
n
in

g

O
b

je
c
ti

v
e

M
e
a
s
u

re
s

A
c
tu

a
l 

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 a

g
a
in

s
t 

T
a
rg

e
t

R
e
a
s
o

n
 f

o
r 

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

T
a
rg

e
t

2
0
1
0
/1

1

A
c
tu

a
l 

2
0
1
0
/2

0
1
1

T
o

 e
n

s
u

re
 e

n
e
rg

y

s
e
c
u

ri
ty

.

D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

o
f 

a
n
 I

E
P

 f
o
r 

th
e
 c

o
u
n
tr

y.
P

h
a
s
e
s
 1

 &
 2

S
ig

n
if
ic

a
n
t 

w
o
rk

 w
a
s
 d

o
n
e
 i
n

d
e
v
e
lo

p
in

g
 t

h
e
 I

E
P
, 

w
it
h
 t

h
e
 I

E
P

m
e
th

o
d
o
lo

g
y,

 t
h
e
 p

la
us

ib
le

 fu
tu

re
s

a
n
d
 t

h
e
 I

E
P

 S
tr

a
te

g
y
 d

o
c
u
m

e
n
ts

fi
n
a
lis

e
d
. 

H
o
w

e
v
e
r,
 t

h
e
 I

E
P

 S
tr

a
te

g
y

w
a
s
 n

o
t 

a
p
p
ro

v
e
d
 f

o
r 

p
u
b
lis

h
in

g
 b

y

C
a
b
in

e
t 

a
s
 w

a
s
 e

n
v
is

a
g
e
d
. 
T

h
e

C
S

IR
 w

a
s
 c

o
n
tr

a
c
te

d
 t

o
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
 t

h
e

m
o
d
e
lli

n
g
 s

y
s
te

m
 f

o
r 

th
e
 I

E
P

 a
n
d

w
o
rk

 o
n
 t

h
is

 c
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p
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 b
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a
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h
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 d
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 l
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c
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 d
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h
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c
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b
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 p
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c
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d
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p
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d
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d
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 p
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c
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 b
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 c
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c
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 d
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 C
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c
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 d

a
ta

b
a
s
e
 c
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 c
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 d
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c
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c
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 C
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c
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c
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 d
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ra
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 r
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c
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b
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p
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.
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 d
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ra
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 s
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b
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 p
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c
ti
o
n
s
 o

n
 e

n
e
rg

y
 s

e
c
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e
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w
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h
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p
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 b
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c
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 p
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ra
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b
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p
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n
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u
a
rt

e
rl
y
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
s
 w

it
h
 T

ra
n
s
n
e
t

(p
ip

e
lin

e
s
);

 p
ro
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c
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n
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 c
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b
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.
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n
e
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y
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n
d
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v
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n
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b
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c
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C
o
m

m
it
te

e
 t

o
o
k
 p
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c
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e
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n
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 c
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n
ti
n
u
e
d
 o

n
 a
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n
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a
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 d
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e
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n
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v
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s
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p
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.
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ti
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F

u
e
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S
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c
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c
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p
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c
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 d
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d
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 c
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c
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c
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 c
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 c
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 b
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c
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 r
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 p
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c
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p
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c
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 c
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 d
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.
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b
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 d
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c
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b
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n
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 p

o
s
tp

o
n
e
d
 t

o

n
e
x
t 

fi
n
a
n
c
ia

l 
y
e
a
r.

A
p
p
ro

v
a
l 
to

 p
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p
e
n
d
in

g

fo
r 

in
s
ta

lla
ti
o
n
 o

f 

2
4
-i
n
c
h
 t

ru
n
k
lin

e

fu
n
d
in

g
 m

e
c
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c
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Programme 3: Electricity, and Nuclear and Clean Energy  

Purpose: To provide a policy and regulatory framework for the electricity, nuclear and clean

energy sectors in a manner that ensures energy security, universal access to electricity,

diversification of primary energy sources and the promotion of clean and efficient technologies.

Electricity and Nuclear Management provides overall management of the programme.

The Electricity Chief Directorate develops, implements and monitors electricity policy and

programmes. 

The Integrated National Electrification Programme Business Planning Unit manages the

electrification planning, funding and implementation process, including addressing electrification

backlogs in the quest to achieve universal access to electricity. 

The Nuclear Chief Directorate aims to improve governance of the nuclear sector, specifically

in relation to nuclear safety, nuclear non-proliferation and nuclear technology.

The Clean Energy Chief Directorate facilitates the implementation of renewable energy and

energy efficiency technologies and also regulates and promotes CDM activities.

Objectives and measures

• Ensure well-managed, efficient and safe electricity, and nuclear and clean energy
industries by:
– implementing the nuclear energy policy through the development of an implementation

strategy by June 2010;

– implementing energy efficiency policies and issuing regulations and strategies to achieve

electricity savings of 12% by 2015, based on energy demand forecasts; and

– regulating the security of nuclear material and facilities through the development of

appropriate regulations for the physical protection of nuclear material by March 2011.

• Promote the sustainable use of electricity to achieve a 100MW saving over the MTEF
period by:
– publishing the SWH framework by June 2010;

– ensuring the use of compact fluorescent light bulbs in public buildings and reducing the

power used for domestic and street lighting;

– facilitating the development and implementation of energy efficiency technologies and

programmes through the development of energy efficiency standards for appliances and

publishing them by 2010/11;

– increasing access to electricity by monitoring the implementation of the INEP, which aims

to connect 3.2 million households by 2012; and

– facilitating the implementation and adoption of new and renewable energy technologies

to meet the 2013 target of 10 000GWh generation from clean energy sources by

providing increased support through the renewable energy finance and subsidy scheme

and other support programmes.
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Progress achieved

• Restructuring the electricity distribution industry

The decision to discontinue the REDs process was an important milestone, since it provided

certainty about a matter that was clouding municipal investment decisions for the past

decade. The completion of the winding up of EDIH will provide the DoE with an opportunity

to review the entire electricity distribution value chain with the aim of developing a focused

strategy on energy security and determining the implications of the capital investment

required for the entire value chain. EDIH ceased operating on 31 March 2011 in accordance

with a Cabinet decision of 8 December 2010. 

• IRP

The IRP was promulgated in March 2011 after a process of extensive stakeholder

engagement covering more than 18 months. The IRP provides the blueprint of the power

generation options that the country has adopted for the next 20 years, including a portfolio

of renewable energy technologies, coal, nuclear, gas and the energy efficiency option. 

The Plan addresses concerns about greenhouse gas emissions, water usage, financing

costs and employment potential in the power-generation space. Regulations for new

generation capacity were revised to facilitate the procurement of the projects indicated under

the IRP.

Progress partially achieved

• REFIT and fossil-fired power generation

Under the measure 200MW renewable and fossil-fired power introduced, partial progress

was achieved. Negotiations on the 1000MW Open Cycle Gas Turbine Project were

concluded and commercial close was reached in January 2011. While that represented an

important milestone, the target was to conclude the negotiations on renewable power plants

under REFIT by March 2011. The process of procurement under REFIT is the next step,

which will be launched in June 2011.  It is expected that construction will commence before

December 2011.

• Energy Efficiency Demand-side Management (EEDSM) and SWHs 

Under the measure promulgation of “EEDSM Incentive Scheme Standard Offer (SO)”, the

policy was promulgated and NERSA concluded the stakeholder engagement process in

line with requirements.  However, the Minister of Finance indicated that it was necessary to

ensure that the institutionalisation of SANEDI was fast-tracked to avoid double dipping

between that scheme and the Energy Efficiency Tax Incentive Scheme (EETIS) so that

NERSA could manage both schemes before the SO became operational. Public

consultations on regulations for the EETIS will only commence after June 2011.

Nonetheless, the SO promulgation will facilitate the accelerated uptake of SWHs. 
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• Ensuring reliable transmission and distribution networks

The outcome to ensure the reliability of transmission and distribution networks was achieved

through the identification of critical infrastructure that required rehabilitation/maintenance.

That was undertaken with a specific focus on metropolitan municipalities and host cities. The

mapping report provided a high-level assessment of the situation in metropolitan

municipalities and host cities. That report is available.

The outcome of the report further detailed municipal allocations towards maintenance and

shortfalls for metros and a sample of municipalities. That resulted in the development of an

implementation plan to manage electricity distribution asset management. 

Progress not achieved

• Renewable Energy Finance and Subsidy Office (REFSO)

When REFSO was conceived, there was no REFIT (or any other incentive scheme) for

supporting renewable energy project developers. With the inception of REFIT, it was not

appropriate to use REFSO to fund the five renewable energy projects by December 2010,

as originally planned. The introduction of REFIT necessitated a review of the allocation of

subsidies to support renewable energy projects to avoid misallocation of scarce resources.

• Nuclear transaction

The plan was to obtain Cabinet approval for the consideration of a nuclear power

programme by June 2010. That was not achieved because of the delay in adopting the IRP,

of which nuclear is a constituent part. The resolution of the nuclear question under the IRP

happened in March 2011, thus postponing the decision on the nuclear transaction to the

2011 financial year.

• Electricity Regulation (ER) Second Amendment Bill

Certain limitations were identified under ER legislation, including the facilitation of IPPs.

The intention was to amend the law by April 2010.  However, that was not achieved.

Additional issues were uncovered under the REFIT programme, which necessitated a delay

rather than processing the amendment of the ER Act piece-meal.  The new plan is to

process the amendments in the 2011 financial year so that all the issues that relate to IPPs

can be incorporated holistically.

Challenges and remedies

• SWHs

Since the Minister announced the programme in May 2009, 115 000 SWHs were installed

against a target of 200 000. The majority of the systems installed are low-pressure SWHs
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funded though the tariff-based rebate system. Penetration into the high-pressure market

segment was low because of the high capital cost associated with such systems.

The Department introduced the SO Incentive Scheme, in terms of which project developers

are incentivised to install SWHs in exchange for a rebate (R/installation/month).The intention

is to augment the funding made available under the rebate scheme by leveraging additional

private-sector funding.
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Programme 4: Associated Services

Public entities and other agencies

Purpose: To provide related services in support of the Department’s mandate through funded

and non-funded statutory bodies and organisations.

Measurable objective: To enhance the Department’s objectives through policies and directives

promoting its legislative mandate and leading to the creation of an environment conducive to

investment and the improvement of the quality of life of South Africans.

(Detailed annual reports for each of the following entities are tabled with the Department’s

Annual Report.)

• The South African Nuclear Energy Corporation (NECSA)

NECSA was established in terms of the NEA (1999). Its functions are to undertake and

promote research on nuclear energy, radiation sciences and technology; to process source,

special and restricted nuclear material, including uranium enrichment; and to collaborate

with other entities. The Act also delegates specific responsibilities to the Corporation,

including the operation of the SAFARI-1 reactor; applying radiation technology for medical

and scientific purposes; managing nuclear waste disposal nationally; and implementing and

executing national safeguards.

The adoption of the 2008 nuclear energy policy re-confirmed NECSA’s mandate and

designated the organisation as the lead agency in nuclear research and development. The

policy also highlighted the need for the Corporation to develop viable nuclear fuel cycle

options to support the new-build nuclear power programme. 

The NECSA Group, through NTP Radio-isotopes and with the SAFARI-1 research reactor

playing a key role, continued to be a reliable, leading supplier of radio chemicals to the

global healthcare market, thereby contributing to the stabilisation of the industry after serious

supply disruptions in recent years.  NTP remained the only supplier in the world with the

ability to produce Molybdenum-99 (Mo-99) on industrial scale using a process entirely based

on low enriched uranium (LEU).  In this regard, the US Department of Energy awarded

NECSA a special contract to support the South African programme to fully convert the Mo-

99 production process from highly enriched uranium to LEU-based operations and

technology. 

During the 2010/11 financial year, the NTP Group achieved sales of R869 million, some

13% more than budgeted.  The SAFARI-1 reactor achieved its best-ever operational

availability (306 days against a scheduled availability of 304 days), at an average reactor

power of 19.44MW.  The world average for research reactors with a high utilisation rate is

only 235 days per annum. This was the result of an effective maintenance programme, the

implementation of a reactor ageing management programme and specially trained reactor

operations personnel. 

In its capacity as anchor for nuclear energy research and development in South Africa and

at the request of the Department of Science and Technology (DST), NECSA developed a
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comprehensive proposal and implementation plan for a South African Nuclear Energy

Research, Development and Innovation Strategy (NERDIS).  The study included an

extensive analysis of the entire national nuclear programme and identified fields of research,

development, innovation and skills development to be addressed during the expansion of

the nuclear fleet as foreseen in the recently promulgated IRP. 

A collaborative initiative was launched with various universities and iThemba LABS for the

establishment of an integrated nuclear energy research support structure for reactor

physics, mathematical modelling and nuclear materials, as well as to integrate research

initiatives and higher educational training in reactor physics.  Good progress was made with

the Nuclear Technologies in Medicine and the Biosciences Initiative (NTeMBI) by

establishing project teams with members from various universities and research institutions.

NECSA continued with its participation in the development of advanced science and

engineering skills through various in-house and collaborative activities.

In line with NECSA’s core research and development mandate, its innovation outputs have

grown well, with 31 innovation disclosures recorded during the 2010/11 financial year.

The Minister of Energy launched NECSA’s state-of-the-art Visitors Centre on 3 February

2011.  The Centre aims to improve understanding of the true value and benefits of nuclear

technologies among the youth and the general public. NECSA’s Nuclear Skills Development

(NSD) Centre programme deserves special mention, since it continued to grow and fulfil its

mandate to respond to the call made by Government through the National Skills

Development Strategy.  The NSD Centre partnered with various organisations, such as the

Department of Public Works, the DBSA, Alstom, DB Thermal and others on job creation

projects.  A total of 487 apprentices benefited from the semester training programmes

offered by the Centre.

Excellent progress was made with preparations to achieve ASME III certification, which will

enable NECSA to manufacture according to nuclear quality standards as a platform for

participation in the nuclear new-build localisation programme.

The main challenge to NECSA for the foreseeable future remained finding sufficient

resources − in terms of finances, a suitable skills mix and upgraded infrastructure − to meet

the Corporation’s expanding mandate and demands on its contribution to the growing South

Arican nuclear industry; all of this particularly in light of the recently approved IRP that

indicates our nuclear energy expansion until 2030, as well as the IPAP 2011−13 that signals

Government’s renewed focus on localisation benefits, particularly from high-technology

infrastructure fleet procurement programmes.

• CEF

CEF is a state-owned holding company governed by the CEF Act (1977). It researches,

finances, develops and exploits appropriate energy solutions across the spectrum of energy

sources to meet South Africa’s future energy needs. In terms of its governing legislation,

CEF is also mandated to manage the Equalisation Fund, which collects levies from retail

sales of petroleum products, to help eliminate unnecessary fluctuations in the retail price of

liquid fuel and to provide tariff protection to the synthetic fuel industry. 
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PetroSA was able to operate without major incident during the year, but feedstock flow

constraints meant operating below full design capacity. The SFF continued to operate

without environmental incidents, which is encouraging given the poor publicity that BP

received after the Deepwater Horizon incident in April 2010. The SFF performed

exceptionally well in the year and realised a profit of R200 million.

The challenges faced by the renewable energy and carbon subsidiaries were primarily

related to uncertain national electricity and international post-Kyoto carbon regulatory

environments associated with internal project concerns putting a number of renewable

energy projects on hold or requiring termination. The entities that were impacted on by these

challenges are the EDC Division of CEF, CCE, ETA and CEF Carbon.

Despite these challenges, ETA continued to refine the SWH financial and installation model,

and a test phase began early in January 2011. This project will continue into the

2011/2011financial year to validate the business model. ETA signed an MoU with a Chinese

company to investigate the possibility of local manufacture of SWHs. 

CEF is the main funder of a feasibility study into the solar park concept which could see up

to 5GW of electricity generated from solar energy in the Northern Cape.

• National Energy Regulator for South Africa (NERSA)

NERSA’s mandate is anchored on four primary acts, namely the National Energy Regulator

Act, 2004 (Act No. 40 of 2004); the Electricity Regulation Act, 2006 (Act No. 4 of 2006); the

Gas Act, 2001 (Act No. 48 of 2001); and the Petroleum Pipelines Act, 2003 (Act No. 60 of

2003).

In terms of the National Energy Regulator Act, NERSA is funded through money

appropriated by Parliament and levies imposed by or under separate legislation, e.g. the

Gas Regulator Levies Act, 2002 (Act No. 75 of 2002); the Petroleum Pipelines Levies Act,

2004 (Act No. 28 of 2004); and Section 5B of the Electricity Act, 1987 (Act No. 41 of 1987).

It imposes such levies on the regulated industries following a prescribed and transparent

procedure.

In the area of electricity industry regulation, NERSA completed the rules for the selection of

REFIT projects; approved the connection requirements for wind energy facilities; conducted

22 workshops with municipalities on the implementation of IBTs; published the consultation

paper on Cogeneration Feed-In Tariffs (COFIT); published the consultation paper on the

revised REFITs and qualifying criteria; approved the service incentive scheme for Eskom

Transmission and Eskom Distribution; approved the EEDSM regulatory rules; and approved

the first Governance Code for the Distribution Code.

Concerning the regulation of the piped-gas industry, NERSA calculated and published the

aggregate prices for 2008 and 2009; approved the minimum and maximum prices for

2008/09; approved the Transnet Pipelines transmission tariff for the gas pipeline from

Secunda to Durban South (Lilly Pipeline); approved the ROMPCO pipeline tariff for August

to October 2010; approved the preliminary reference prices, minimum prices and the

maximum prices for the year 2008/09; approved a consultation document on a methodology

to approve maximum prices for gas; issued a licence to operate a gas storage facility;
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inspected nine construction sites; and received eight applications for the registration of gas

activities.

NERSA approved the revised tariff methodologies for the petroleum pipelines industry, as

well as the reasons for the decision; approved a 59.9% increase in the allowable revenue

for the Transnet Pipeline System for 2011/12; and approved the Guidelines for Annual

Assessment of Storage and Loading Facilities Tariff Applications.

NERSA also approved the Minimum Information Requirements for Tariff Applications

(MIRTA) guidelines for electricity tariff applications and petroleum pipelines tariff

applications.

• National Nuclear Regulator (NNR)

The NNR was established in terms of the NNR Act, 1999 (Act No. 47 of 1999), which came

into effect in February 2000. The Act mandates the regulator to regulate diverse activities

in the nuclear sector, including the operation of nuclear power plants, power reactors,

research reactors, nuclear fuel fabrication, nuclear technology applications, and the mining

and processing of uranium and other radioactive ores.

The mandate of the Regulator encompasses the provision of protection to persons, property

and the environment against nuclear damage by establishing safety standards and

regulatory practices, and exercising regulatory oversight and control over any action that

may cause nuclear damage, as well as over nuclear installations, including vessels

propelled by nuclear power or that contain radioactive material. The Regulator issues

nuclear authorisations and enforces compliance. It has to ensure that provisions for nuclear

emergency planning are in place, and ensures compliance with the International Atomic

Energy Agency’s (IAEA’s) regulations for safe transport. The Regulator is also mandated to

advise the Minister of Energy on all nuclear-related matters.

Its total revenue is made up of authorisation fees, a state grant and other income, which

include application fees for new operators. During the year under review, its total revenue

increased by 1% (R1.5m), as compared with the previous year.  The minor increase is a

combination of a significant decline of 16% in the state grant and an increase in authorisation

fees of 7%.

The NNR continued to fulfil its mandate of protecting the public, property and environment

from radiation hazards. The majority of the 507 compliance inspections that were conducted

at all nuclear installations showed no significant safety concerns or findings.

Koeberg Power Plant continued to operate within safety standards, although there was a

minor incident of exposure of workers above natural levels but below the regulatory limit.

The NNR is satisfied that the exposure was well within acceptable limits. NECSA also

operated within the acceptable limits of the NNR regulatory standards during the financial

year.

The NNR submitted its fifth Convention on Nuclear Safety (CNS) report to the IAEA in

compliance with South Africa’s obligations under the binding international CNS.
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The NNR is monitoring the accident at the Fukushima Daiichi plant in Japan, caused by the

recent earthquake and tsunami off the east coast of Japan, as well as proposals to reassess

nuclear plants in other countries in the light of that event.  

One of the most critical challenges for the NNR remained competition for scarce nuclear

skills among regulated entities and the international nuclear industry, which causes the NNR

to “loose” core technical skills to the industry. The process of knowledge and skills transfer

from experienced technical staff members is challenged by the significant demand on the

time of individuals who already have heavy workloads.

• Electricity Distribution Industry Holdings (EDIH)

EDIH will be publishing its last Annual Report (for the 2010/11 financial year) following the

Cabinet decision to close down the company on 8 December 2010. 
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Report of the Audit Committee of the DoE for the financial year ended 31 March 2011.

Overview and Introduction

We are pleased to present our Report for the financial year ended 31 March 2011. The mandate

of the Audit Committee requires it to adhere to high-quality standards in accountability, to ensure

the quality of the financial reporting process, control systems and risk management and to help

maintain a high degree of integrity in both the external and internal audit processes.

Audit Committee Members and Attendance

The Audit Committee of the DoE was appointed in September 2010 and its first meeting was

held on 12 November 2010. Prior to that, the DoE and the DMR utilised a joint Audit Committee,

which was formerly the Audit Committee of the DME. The membership of that Committee

consisted of the members listed below and members were required to meet four times per

annum in accordance with its approved charter. The attendance of the meetings of the DME

Audit Committee was as follows:

1 April 2010−30 September 2010

Name of Member Number of Meetings Held Number of Meetings Attended

Mr S Sithole CA (SA) (Chairperson) 3 3

Dr DP van der Nest 3 3

Ms E Heyn CA (SA)* 3 0

* The DMR had an arrangement for Ms E Heyn not to be present at meetings because of ill health. She continued to
make contributions by reviewing matters presented to the Committee and provided her comments to the Chairperson
before each meeting. 

The Audit Committee of the newly established DoE consists of the three external members

listed below.  During the year under review, three meetings were held. The meetings were

attended as follows:

1 October 2010–31 March 2011

Name of Member Number of Meetings Held Number of Meetings Attended

Mr Y Gordhan CA (SA)
(Chairperson)

3 3

Mr N Swana CA (SA) 3 2

Mr T Mofokeng CA (SA) 3 3
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Audit Committee Responsibility

In terms of the Audit Committee Report, the Committee complied with its responsibilities arising

from Sections 38 (1)(a) and 77 of the PFMA and Treasury Regulation 3.1.13. The Audit

Committee also reports that it approved the ToR in accordance with its Audit Committee

Charter, conducted its affairs in compliance with this Charter and, other than as set out below,

discharged all its responsibilities thereto.

The Effectiveness of Internal Control

The Department has a system of internal control to provide cost-effective assurance that the

Department’s goals will be economically, effectively and efficiently achieved.

In line with the PFMA, the International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal

Auditing issued by the Institute of Internal Auditors and the King III Report on Corporate

Governance requirements, Internal Audit provided the Audit Committee and Management with

quarterly internal audit reports in terms of its approved annual and three-year rolling Internal

Audit Plan. That was achieved by means of the risk management process review, the

governance review and the identification of corrective actions and proposed enhancements.

From the various reports of Internal Audit and of the Auditor-General, it was noted that there

were deficiencies in the internal control system. Management undertook to address the

deficiencies and to improve the internal control environment.

Quality of Management Reports

During the tenure of the new Audit Committee, management reports for the third quarter ended

31 December 2010 were presented. The Audit Committee was satisfied with the content and

the quality of the reports.

Evaluation of Annual Financial Statements

The Audit Committee:

• reviewed and discussed the Annual Financial Statements, Accounting Officer’s Report and

the Performance Information for submission to the Auditor-General on 31 May 2011 with

Management; 

• reviewed the adjustments that resulted from the audit; and

• reviewed the audit report of the Auditor-General and concurred with the opinion.

Internal Audit

The Audit Committee reviewed the internal audit quarterly reports to ensure that internal audit



Department of Energy – Annual Report 2010/2011 79

National Department of Energy – Vote 28

Report of the Audit Comittee
for the year ended 31 March 2011

activities were conducted in terms of the approved annual and three-year rolling plan. The Audit

Committee registered its concerns with Management regarding the adequacy of resources

within the Internal Audit function. As a result, a private audit firm was co-sourced to assist in

completing the annual internal audit plan. Assurance was given that the capacity and resources

of Internal Audit would be improved for the ensuing financial year beginning 1 April 2011.

Appreciation

The Audit Committee expresses its sincere appreciation to the Accounting Officer, senior

management team and the Auditor-General of South Africa for their contributions.

YN Gordhan (CA) (SA)

Chairman of the Audit Committee
23 September 2011
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Report of the Accounting Officer to the Executive Authority and Parliament of
the Republic of South Africa

1. General Review of the State of Financial Affairs

The decision to split the mining and energy portfolios in the (DME) in 2009, effective on 1 April

2010, was intended to give more focus to the energy portfolio. The split was 70/30 in favour of

the (DMR) in respect of support services. That effectively meant that the (DoE) received 30%

of the assets and financial and HR services from the DME.

On 31 March 2010, the DMR and DoE Director-Generals signed a Memorandum of Agreement

(MoA) detailing the transitional arrangements for the migration from the DME to the DMR and

DoE. 

The MoA dealt specifically with the following key aspects:

• Transfer of funds

• The 2009/10 audit processes

• Sharing of audit fees for the 2009/10 audit

• Payment of invoices for acquisition of goods and services

• Settlement of commitments and outstanding debts as at year-end 

• Treatment of balance sheet accounts (assets and liabilities, storage of files, sharing of

inventory)

• Governance matters

• Office accommodation 

• Contingent liabilities

The second MoA between the DMR and the DoE was signed on 27 May 2011. The aim was

to ensure that there was agreement between the two Accounting Officers on the opening

balances, assets and liabilities, and other commitments that might not have been confirmed in

the 2009/10 financial year. 

Because of the limited budget to fund its approved establishment, the Department started

operating with 41% of its required overall capacity.  That gradually increased to 52% by year-

end. We will undertake further work to refine the approved organisational structure to enhance

the Department’s ability to deliver on its stated government-wide priorities, including access to

energy, poverty alleviation, rural development and job creation.

Access to energy and poverty alleviation

Over and above providing access to modern energy carriers through electrification and liquefied
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petroleum gas, among others, we are mindful of the adverse impact that increasing tariffs will

have on the poor, and various instruments were put in place to minimise the impact.  These

include IBTs for electricity, free basic (alternative) energy and SWH. The concept of IBTs is

premised on the principle that the more you use electricity, the more you pay. That decision was

taken to provide for cross-subsidies for low-income, domestic customers and is applicable to

both Eskom and municipalities. Concerning IBTs, we flagged the problem relating to prepaid

metering systems and their inability to be configured to dispense IBT. The reconfiguration

process was subsequently completed on Eskom prepaid meters. 

More than 70% of identified indigent households are receiving free basic electricity, while less

than 5% receives free basic alternative energy, including bio-fuels, paraffin, LPG and other

alternative sources. 

Regulations were promulgated to address the high costs associated with LPG and since our

intervention we have seen a saving of at least R200m running concurrently with increased

penetration in poor areas. The introduction of IeCs in rural areas continued in collaboration

with the private sector, and in the year under review, one was commissioned in Qunu in the

Eastern Cape. Apart from being an energy-delivery initiative, the IeC also serves as an Internet

communication hub for the community.

Job creation

The electrification programme created over 5 000 permanent jobs with the introduction of the

renewable energy and energy efficiency programmes.  

Important policy decisions and strategic issues facing the Department

• Integrated Resource Plan (IRP) 

The IRP was promulgated in March 2011 after a process of extensive stakeholder

engagement covering more than 18 months. The IRP provides the blueprint of the power

generation options that the country has adopted for the next 20 years, including a portfolio

of renewable energy technologies, coal, nuclear energy, gas and the energy efficiency

option. 

During the public consultation process, over 5 000 comments from interested and affected

parties were received and processed.  That culminated in a plan that addresses greenhouse

gas emissions, water usage, financing cost and employment potential in the power-

generation space.
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• Integrated Energy Plan (IEP)

This year, we also started the process of developing the IEP. We put in place a planning

methodology that defines both the processes we will undertake and the intergovernmental

structures to ensure constructive debate and effective delivery on the IEP. At this stage,

discussions and debates are still taking place under the auspices of Government. However,

we aim to open engagements to the broader public before the end of the first half of the

2011/12 financial year.

1.1 Significant events that have taken place during the year

In October 2010, the President of the Republic of South Africa appointed Ms Barbara

Thompson, MP, as the Deputy Minister in the energy portfolio. That increased the pressure on

the administration budget of the Department as far as the compensation of employees and

other logistical requirements were concerned.

With the appointment of additional employees in the support services components, the

procurement of additional office space became imperative, since the available office space

was no longer adequate to cater for the office accommodation needs of the Department. The

procurement of both alternative and additional office space is administered by the Department

of Public Works. The split of the DME also coincided with the relocation of both departments

to new office premises and that implied that the additional expenditure incurred for the DoEs

accommodation was unforeseen and unavoidable. The aforementioned situation resulted in

over-expenditure on the allocated administrative budget of the DoE. 

The success of our efforts to ensure energy adequacy, and working together with the liquid

fuels industry and municipalities during the FIFA Soccer World Cup in 2010, laid a firm

foundation for future coordinated planning. The Department incurred R281 million on the

procurement of the diesel power generators used at all hosting stadia during the World Cup.  

1.2 Major projects undertaken or completed during the year

• The regulation of the maximum price of LPG sold to residential customers protecting

consumers from unbridled price increases, was promulgated. 

• The Cleaner Fuels Two: Discussion Paper was initiated and published in the Government

Gazette for public comment on 8 March 2011. It set a sound base for improved fuel

specifications and standards and is one of our contributions towards emission reduction.

• The models for the determination of fuel price margins for various segments of the liquid

fuels value chain under the regulatory accounting system project, which seeks to ring-fence

regulated from non-regulated activities in the liquid fuels chain, were completed. The

implementation of the models in 2011/12 will help to determine optimal fuel price margins
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in the various segments of the value chain to promote investments and improve governance

of the downstream liquid fuels industry.

• An IeC was launched at Qunu in the Eastern Cape on 18 February 2011. This IeC is

operational and benefits the community in respect of energy provision.  It also provides a

platform for local economic development initiatives. A partnership with a local school to run

the library and computer centre at the IeC is being explored.

• A pre-feasibility study of the solar park concept, in terms of which renewable energy would

be harnessed at utility scale as an alternative to fossil-fired power generation, was

completed. We presented the Solar Park Investors Conference in 2010 to share information

with potential investors and to alert them to the opportunity of utilising the solar resource in

the Northern Cape for power generation. It is expected that up to 5 000 MW of power could

be generated though the solar park concept.

• The quest for universal access to electricity continues. To date, South Africa’s energy

penetration stands at more than 75%, and during the past financial year, over 195 000

households were connected to the national grid. In addition, another 4 600 households were

supplied with non-grid technologies (solar PV).

• Since the Minister announced the programme in May 2009, 115 000 solar water heaters

have been installed. The majority of the systems installed are low-pressure solar water

heaters funded though the tariff-based rebate system. There has not been much penetration

in the high-pressure segment because of the high capital cost associated with such systems.

This constraint is receiving attention. 

• The Department introduced the standard offer incentive scheme in terms of which project

developers are incentivised to install solar water heaters in exchange for a rebate

(R/installation/month). In this manner, we intend to augment the funding made available

under the rebate scheme by leveraging additional private-sector funding.

1.3 Spending trends

The original appropriation received for the Department on 1 April 2010 amounted to R5.54

billion.  In the adjusted budget the appropriation was increased by R113.27 million to a total

budget allocation of R5.65 billion for the 2010/11 financial year.  The increase was appropriated

to cover approved rollover funds of R61 million relating to the Working for Energy Project (R5

million) and non-grid electrification projects (R56 million) under the INEP. An additional R3.8

million was allocated for higher personnel remuneration increases than provided for in the

original 2010/11 budget.  An amount of R48.474 million was also appropriated additionally

following the receipt of the funds from the DMR and the shift of energy functions to the

Department. An amount of R14.94 million was allocated towards compensation of employees

to cater for unfunded positions and R37.09 million was allocated for the procurement of goods
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and services to cater for additional expenditure associated with the establishment of the

Department. The remainder was allocated to transfer payments (R61 million) and R250 000

was allocated for the procurement of capital assets. 

Of the total budget of R5.65 billion appropriated, the major portion was utilised for transfers to

municipalities, SOEs and other organisations (95.68%). Compensation of employees

contributed to 2.6% and operational funding for Goods & Services amounted to 1.66%. Of the

total budget appropriated to the DoE, approximately 4.3% was utilised for operational costs. The

balance of the funding was earmarked funding. The total spending for the year amounted to

97.2% and unspent budget amounted to R143.283 million.

The spending trend from April to June was somewhat staggered. However, the spending

patterns increased from August 2010 onwards, with two major increases in expenditure during

August 2010 and November 2010. The average spending per month was R457.5 million

(inclusive of transfers to public entities). 

The following table shows the budget overview per programme for the financial year ended 

31 March 2011:

Budget Overview 2010/11

Details Budget Actual

Spending

31/03/2011

Actual

Percentage of

Budget Spent

Available

Rand (millions) R'000 R'000 % R'000

Administration 127.5 121.6 95.4 5.9

Hydrocarbons and Energy
Planning

1 564.7 1 556.4 99.5 8.2

Electricity, Nuclear and
Clean Energy

431.7 408.6 94.7 23.1

Associated Services 3 524.8 3 418.7 97.0 106.1

Total Budget − 2010/11 5 648.7 5 505.3 97.5 143.2

• Programme 1: Administration

The underspending and outstanding payments relate to delayed computer, communication,

contractors and professional services. 
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• Programme 2: Hydrocarbons and Energy Planning

The underspending of R8.2 million under the Hydrocarbons and Energy Planning Branch

represents an underspending of 0.5% and is attributable to vacancies in the Branch during

the reporting period (R2.29 million) and outstanding order payments at financial year-end

associated with the procurement of goods and services (R5.94 million). 

• Programme 3: Electricity and Nuclear

The Electricity and Nuclear Branch recorded an underspending of R23.1 million, which

represents an underspending of 5.3% and that can be ascribed mainly to outstanding

transfer payments of R20.19 million relating to the REFSO. 

The REFSO was allocated an amount of R20.1 million for the period 2010/11, which could

not be spent because of the review process.  It was, however, committed to fund the

feasibility studies of two RE projects, i.e. R18.1 million for the proposed 5 000 MW Solar

Park in Upington and R2 million for the Vaal Dam Hydro, which is a Public Private

Partnership (PPP) Project in collaboration with the Department of Water Affairs. The CEF

was appointed as the implementing agency. The Department submitted a request for rollover

funds of R20.1 million to cover expenditure during the 2011/12 financial year.

Other contributing factors were vacancies in the Branch (R1.58 million) during the reporting

period and outstanding order payments at financial year-end (R1.15 million).

• Programme 4: Associated Services

The underspending of 3% under Programme 4: Associated Services can be attributed to:

– Conditional grants totalling R58 million in respect of the INEP that were not disbursed

because of delays in fund requests from municipalities and timeframes attached to the

bank verification process. 

– A transfer payment of R5 million in respect of the NERT – PMO that was not disbursed

before 31 March 2011. With the closure of EDIH with effect from 1 April 2011, the

outstanding commitments in respect of the NERT − PMO were transferred to the DoE.

This means that outstanding payments to the service provider of R13.38 million will be

paid from the goods and services item. An amount of R5 million was reclassified as a

transfer payment to EDIH during the 2010/11 financial year for this purpose.  However,

it was not disbursed to EDIH because of its closure and late approval for reclassification.

– Transfer payments of R114.29 million concerning the INEP, earmarked for transfer, non-

grid electrification projects, were not made as a result of delays in the service
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The following were the major cost drivers for the financial year under review:

2010/11 Performance of Major Spending Areas

Details Budget Actual

Spending

31/03/2011

Actual

Percentage of

Budget Spent 

Available

Rand (millions) R'000 R'000 % R'000

Major spending areas

Transfers and subsidies 5 394.7 5 268,2 97.4 126.5

Compensation of employees 143.3 142.8 99.7 0.5

Transactions in financial
assets

– 0.3 0.0 -0.3

Goods and services 105.3 90.5 85.8 14.8

Payments for capital assets 5.4 3.6 66.7 1.8

Totals Major Spending

Areas 5 648.7 5 505.4 97.5 143.3

Expense Category R '000

Travel and subsistence 30 357

Operating leases 22 205

Consultants, contractors and agency/outsourced services 10 535

Venues and facilities 4 338

Communication 4 261

Other operating expenditure 3 443

Computer services 2 834

Advertising 2 571

Inventory 2 013

agreements, late fund requests from municipalities and timeframes attached to

the bank verification process. During the 2010/11 financial year, an amount of

R124.2 million (including R56 million allocated additionally through the 2009/10

rollover process) was allocated to non-grid electrification of household projects

under the INEP. Actual transfer payments made to non-grid concessionaires

was R9.9 million on 31 March 2011, which left the Department with an

underspending of R102.8 million. The Department submitted a request for

rollover funds of R60 million to cover expenditure during the 2011/12 financial

year for solar water heater projects and schools connections.
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1.4 Virements

A virement was approved on 3 February 2011 to shift funds between main divisions of the vote

(programmes) as follows:

From Programme, Standard Item and Amount To Programme, Standard Item and Amount

R'000 R'000

Programme 1:
Administration

Item: Compensation of
employees

(R1.96 million) Programme 1:
Administration

Item: Compensation of
employees

R2.45 million

Programme 3:
Electricity, Nuclear and
Clean Energy

Item: Compensation of
employees

R2.11 million

Programme 2:
Hydrocarbons and
Energy Planning

Item: Compensation of
employees

(R5.40 million) Programme 3:
Electricity, Nuclear and
Clean Energy

Item: Goods and
services

R2.80 million

Subtotal (R7.36 million) Subtotal R7.36 million

Although the Department was allocated additional funding through the Adjusted Estimates of

National Expenditure process for operational activities, which includes both compensation of

employees and the use of goods and services, several directorates or cost centres reflected

an overspending on the item compensation of employees as a result of the appointment of

interns and contract positions that were carried additionally to the approved establishment.

These appointments required funding additional to the approved establishment budget and are

normally funded through savings generated by vacant positions.

To ensure that all directorates remained within their allocated budgets and that allocations

appropriated for main divisions in the vote were not exceeded, corrective measures were taken

after quarterly expenditure reviews. That included the shifting of funds within and between main

divisions of the vote. The exercise allows for reprioritisation of activities from time to time when

changes become necessary. The fact that the revised organisational structure was not

implemented at the beginning of the year also contributed to the allocation of funding to revised

responsibility codes, where necessary.

All virements were approved by the Accounting Officer and National Treasury.
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The unspent budget of the DoE amounted to R143.283 million. The rollovers requested from

National Treasury were the following: 

Request for Rollovers R'000

REFSO 20 191

Installation of non-grid technologies 60 000

Goods & services 20 202

Capital assets 21

Total 100 414

1.5 Other material financial matters

• Irregular Expenditure

During the year under review, the Department identified irregular expenditure to the 

amount of R112.363 million, which mainly resulted from non-compliance with procurement

procedures in the Department. The Department implemented additional internal controls to

prevent a repeat of such occurrences (refer to the Annual Financial Statements, note 25).  

• Contingent Liability

Potential liabilities of R1.9 million exist that relates to disputed hours and costs between the

DoE and the service provider regarding a forensic audit into suspected irregularities within

the Non-Grid Electrical Services Environment, which started in the previous financial year

when the Department was still a part of the DME.  

• World Cup Expenditure

Payment to the Local Organising Committee for Soccer World Cup infrastructure costs to

the value of R281 million will be made during the 2011/12 financial year because the budget

for the specific payment was only made available by National Treasury on 1 April 2011. This

expenditure is included in goods and services under accruals (refer to the Annual Financial

Statements, note 32).

• EDIH – NERT Project

This project was handled operationally by EDIH. National Treasury approved a transfer of

R5 million to Gobodo Systems Consulting for the payment of the project.  However, the

payment could not be effected until an agreement was signed between the DoE and Gobodo

Systems Consulting, which would create an obligation to pay. The contract was signed on

12 April 2011 and payment will be effected in the next year financial year.
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2. Service rendered by the Department

2.1 The mission of the DoE is to regulate and transform the energy sector for the provision

of secure, sustainable and affordable energy. To achieve the above mission, the

Department is split into three key programmes that are responsible for, among other

things:

• The promotion of sustainable use of energy resources through integrated energy planning.

This includes the development of policy and regulations concerning petroleum products,

coal, gas, renewable energy and energy efficiency, and oversight over SOEs –

Hydrocarbons and Energy Planning. 

• The development, monitoring of enhancement and the implementation of policies governing

the electricity, nuclear, renewable energy and energy efficiency sectors, and supporting the

achievement of universal access to electricity, including oversight over SOEs – Electricity,

Nuclear and Clean Energy. 

• The provision of support services to the Department.

In addition to electrification and energy-efficiency services, the Department also hosts the DNA

where a repository of CDM initiatives is managed. Project developers register their projects

with the DNA for consideration in terms of the United Nations Framework Convention on

Climate Change (UNFCCC).

2.2 Tariff policy

• Petroleum products licensing fees

The following fees are charged in terms of the Petroleum Products Amendment Act No. 58 of

2003:

Site licence fee R1 000

Wholesale licence fee R1 000

Retail licence fee R500

Annual retail licence fee R500

Temporary retail licence fee R500

Duplicate licence fee R500

Site licence transfer fee R500

Amendment licence fee R500

Manufacturing  license fee R10 000

Manufacturing annual fee R5 000
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2.3 Free services

2010 Free Basic Energy (FBE) Snapshot Analysis

Provinces

March ‘10 FBE

Total

Indigent

Households

(Census

2001)

Total

Indigent

Households

(Municipal

Data)

Eskom Municipality Non-grid Total %

Eastern Cape 939 776 717 759 141 340 218 684 10 096 370 120 39

KwaZulu-Natal 1 162 490 220 269 130 498 143 129 34 202 307 829 26

Gauteng 967 539 233 776 389 358 428 344 0 817 702 85

Mpumalanga 444 112 197 305 84 948 114 273 4 100 203 321 46

Limpopo 744 676 525 959 190 674 104 123 21 928 316 725 43

North West 440 733 143 210 73 949 22 467 126 96 542 22

Free State 425 049 229 435 106 923 373 968 920 481 811 113

Northern Cape 118 194 95 736 43 587 47 186 300 91 073 77

Western Cape 290 213 204 821 182 508 441 718 301 624 527 215

Total 5 532 782 2 568 270 1 343 785 1 893 892 71 973 3 309 650 60

The table above shows the progress made by municipalities with the provision of free basic

energy, aggregated into provincial figures. It must be noted that while KwaZulu-Natal is home

to 21% of indigent households in the country, only 26% of these households benefitted from free

basic energy. In contrast, the Northern Cape, which is home to only 2.1% of indigent

households, provided free basic energy to 77% of indigent households within it local

municipalities. These two cases show disparities that exist in the implementation and roll-out

of the free basic energy programme in local municipalities. Four provinces served more than

70% of their indigent households, namely the Northern Cape, Gauteng, the Western Cape and

the Free State.

3. Capacity Constraints

With the establishment of the DoE from 1 April 2010, approval was obtained for the organisation

and establishment structure of the Department with a total number of 927 posts/vacancies.

The concurrence of the Minister for the Public Service and Administration was also obtained,

but as a result of lacking funding, the approved structure could not be implemented.

A need was identified to fill critical posts, which led to the compilation of an interim structure for

the Department consisting of only 526 funded posts. That number includes the 55 interns in the

system as on 31 March 2011. This led to a situation where the majority of employees were

required to assume more responsibilities to ensure delivery of the required services in line with

the mandate of the Department.
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The major impact of these constraints on planned programmes was that both the quality of the

work and service delivery were compromised. In some instances, delivery on other key

performance areas had to be deferred because of a lack of capacity.  Furthermore, the labour

turn-over rate continued because of the high workloads. 

4. Utilisation of Donor Funds

The total project cost for ME686 (the regulatory Accounting System project) was R5.7 million

from NORAD and Swiss government donor funds and R2,7 million from voted funds. NORAD

funding was actually paid for activities that occurred in 2009/10, the year in which the donor

funding ceased. Funds were already transferred into the DoE account from the donor in

2010/11. The main contributing factors to ineffective utilisation of funds were project delays

and administrative inadequacies. Concerning ME686, delays and administrative inadequacies

were, respectively, the result of delays on the part of industry to provide the requisite data to

develop models and the unavailability of a programme manager, together with internal

challenges within some of the organs of state involved.

5. Trading Entities and Public Entities

SANEDI was established during the year. It was listed as a public entity (schedule 3) by the

Minister of Finance.

The Department continued to monitor the performance of the entities under its control, with

specific reference to governance and financial management. The table below illustrates the

performance of the entities reporting to the Minister of Minerals and Energy in relation to the

Auditor-General’s report for the 2009/10 financial year. From this report, it is clear that the

financial controls and monitoring systems put in place are beginning to bear fruit. During

2010/11, the Department continued with its oversight over these entities. However, it is

expected that the entities will continue improving.

Entity Funding Source Audit Opinion for

2008/9

Audit Opinion for

2009/10

NERSA Own (levies) Unqualified Unqualified

EDIH Own and government grant Unqualified Unqualified

NNR Own (fees) and government grant Unqualified Unqualified

NECSA Own and government grant Unqualified Unqualified

CEF Own Unqualified Unqualified

EDIH ceased operations on 31 March 2011 in line with a Cabinet decision of December 2010,

and it is in the process of winding up. An administrator has been appointed to execute the

winding up and the process is expected to be completed by the end of June 2011. 
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Details on entities reporting to the Minister of Energy are listed under General Information in

the Annual Report.

6. Organisations that received Transfer Payments 

6.1 The transfer of payments to municipalities was carried out in accordance with the

approved transfers DORA requirements (refer to note 11.1 to the Annual Financial

Statements). However, there were overpayments to the following Municipalities:

Municipalities R’000

Lephalale Municipality 1

Blue Crane Route Municipality 15

Bela Bela Municipality 1 300

Emalahleni Municipality 2 495

Nelson Mandela Bay Municipality 5 500

Total 9 311

All overpayments to the municipalities were fully recovered by year-end.

6.2 Transfers and subsidies

As at 31 March 2011, the Department disbursed transfer payments of R5.26 billion, which

represented 97.38% of the budget for the year to public entities, municipalities and

implementing agencies. Major transfer payments are reflected in the following table:

Transfer

Payments

Original

Budget

2010/11

Transfer

Payments

March 2011

Year-to-

date

Transfer

Payments

up to 

March 2011

Available

Balance

March 2011  

Actual

Spending

for the

Month as

Percentage

of Total

Budget

Allocation

Actual

Spending

for the Year

as

percentage

of Total

Budget

Allocation

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 % % 

Working for
Energy
Project

20 000 12 000 20,000 0 60.00 100.00

REFSO 20 678 487 487 20 190 2.36 2.36

Transnet
Pipelines

1 500 000 375 000 1 500 000 0 25.00 100.00
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Transfer

Payments

Original

Budget

2010/11

Transfer

Payments

March 2011

Year-to-

date

Transfer

Payments

up to 

March 2011

Available

Balance

March 2011  

Actual

Spending

for the

Month as

Percentage

of Total

Budget

Allocation

Actual

Spending

for the Year

as

percentage

of Total

Budget

Allocation

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 % % 

EDSM –
Eskom

108 900 0 108 900 0 0.00 100.00

EDSM –
Municipalities

220 000 65 400 220 000 0 29.73 100.00

NECSA 574 110 0 574 110 0 0.00 100.00

NNR 19 954 5 161 19 954 0 25.86 100.00

EDIH 66 582 15 763 61 582 5 000 23.67 92.49

INEP –
Eskom

1 719 ,810 30 325 1 719 810 0 1.76 100.00

INEP –
Municipalities

1 020 104 4 684 1 033 382 (13 278) 0.46 101

INEP – Non-
grid

124 200 9 902 9 902 114 298 7.97 7.97

Total

Transfer

Payments

5 394 338 518 722 5 268 127 126 210 9.62 97.38

Transfers and subsidies are included under Annexures 1A, 1B and 1C to the Annual Financial

Statements.

7. PPPs

There were no PPPs for the financial year ended 31 March 2011.

8. Corporate Governance Arrangements 

The Department continued to strengthen its checks-and-balances mechanisms to ensure

compliance with relevant legislative prescripts and corporate governance principles and

practices.

• The Department has an Internal Audit activity that is under the guidance, direction and

supervision of the Chief Audit Executive. The function is responsible for providing

independent, objective assurance and consulting services that are aimed at adding value

and increasing the Department’s opportunities towards accomplishing its objectives. The

function carries out its activities with proficiency and due professional care. To ensure its



Department of Energy – Annual Report 2010/201194

National Department of Energy – Vote 28

Report of the Accounting Officer
for the year ended 31 March 2011

effectiveness and efficiency, the function makes use of a systematic, disciplined approach

to evaluate the adequacy, effectiveness and efficiency of the Department’s governance, risk

management and control processes. 

To maintain its independence, the Internal Audit activity appropriately reports

administratively to the Accounting Officer and functionally to the Audit Committee. Its

authority includes unlimited access to all staff, information and property of the Department.

The function obtains its mandate from the Internal Audit Charter, which was prepared and

approved in the reporting period. The unit developed and obtained approval for its plans, i.e.

the annual plan and the rolling, three-year strategic plan. The plans were based on key risks

facing the Department and also took into consideration other factors such as Auditor-

General reports on prior years,  requests from management and the Audit Committee’, and

so on. The status of the progress concerning performance of the audits on the annual plan

was presented to the Audit Committee on a quarterly basis. The audits conducted during the

year mainly covered compliance; information technology; performance and performance

information; and financial reviews. 

The unit’s operations are guided by the requirements set out in the legislative prescripts

(e.g. the PFMA and the Treasury Regulations) and the standards set by relevant

professional bodies (e.g. the Institute of Internal Auditors, Information Systems Audit and

Control Association, Association of Certified Fraud Examiners, etc.).

• The Department established an Audit Committee in terms of Section 77 of the PFMA. Three

members were appointed to the Department’s Audit Committee.  The members of the Audit

Committee have the requisite knowledge and competence to deal with financial, risk

management, governance, ethical and other matters that pertain to its responsibility. The

Committee operated in line with its Charter, which was prepared by Internal Audit and

recommended by the Audit Committee and approved by the Accounting Officer in the

reporting period. During the financial period under review, the Committee met three times.

The matters tabled for consideration by the Committee included the review of financial

statements; the Auditor-General’s management letters; reports and activities of the Internal

Audit activity and the Risk Management Office; and matters relating to compliance with

laws, regulations and policies.

9. Discontinued Activities/Activities to be discontinued

Cabinet took a decision to wind-up EDIH as at 31 March 2011. The wind-up process is

anticipated to be concluded on 30 June 2011.

10. New/Proposed Activities

As directed by Cabinet, the Department will take over the functions relating to the restructuring

of the electricity distribution industry, including the rehabilitation of the electricity distribution

infrastructure, and will launch projects emanating from the ADAM report. 
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The Department intends to develop, maintain and implement a Project Management

Framework to assist in applying project management principles and monitoring, as well as

reporting on strategic outcomes, outputs and performance targets. 

Approval has been obtained for the review of the organisational structure at a macro-

organisational level, which will focus on delivery of the strategic imperatives within new line-

function components, namely Energy Policy and Planning; Energy Projects and Programmes;

and Nuclear and Clean Energy.  

11. Asset management 

The assest register complied with the National Treasury’s minimum requirements for asset

registers.

12. Inventories

Inventories purchased during the year amounted to:

Details R'000

Learning and teaching support material 48

Fuel, oil and gas 10

Other consumable materials 106

Maintenance material 150

Stationery and printing 1,699

Total 2,013

Refer to Annual Financial Statements, note 5.

13. Events after the Reporting Date

A sublease for furniture was entered into between the DMR and DoE. This lease agreement,

with the accompanying financial implications, are fully accounted for in the Financial

Statements.

14. Information on Predetermined Objectives

At its strategic planning session in August 2009, the Department adopted the following strategic

objectives. These objectives were based on the environmental scan within which the newly

formed DoE was to perform and risks identified during the planning session:

• Ensure energy security 

• Regulate the energy sector  

• Achieve universal access and transform the energy sector 



Department of Energy – Annual Report 2010/201196

National Department of Energy – Vote 28

Report of the Accounting Officer
for the year ended 31 March 2011

• Effective and efficient service delivery

• Optimal utilisation of energy resources. 

• Ensure sustainable development

• Good corporate governance

Each of the above objectives was cascaded down to the responsible branch/component, giving

details of the planned activities to be undertaken to achieve the said objectives. These activities

are further cascaded down to individual projects (under the Project Management unit) on a

monthly basis and monthly reports on progress are submitted to Manco. In terms of section 30

of the PFMA and Chapter 5 of the Treasury Regulations, a quarterly performance report is

compiled and submitted to the Minister via the Director-General in which the Department’s

performance against the predetermined objectives is reviewed.

15. SCOPA Resolution

There were no SCOPA resolutions to be implemented by the Department in the year under

review.

16. Financial Position

The financial position of the DoE as at 31 March 2011 and the results of its operations are set

out in the attached Annual Financial Statements:

• Statement of Financial Performance

• Statement of Financial Position

• Statement of Changes in Net Assets

• Cash Flow Statement

• Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (including Accounting Policies)

• Disclosure Notes to the Annual Financial Statements and Annexures.

17. Approval

The Annual Financial Statements set out on pages 102 to 173 have been approved by the

Accounting Officer(s).

Ms N Magubane

Director-General 
Department of Energy
31 May 2011
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Report of the Auditor-General to Parliament on Vote No 28: Department of Energy
Report on the Financial Statements 

Introduction 

1. I have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Department of Energy, which

comprise the appropriation statement, the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2011,

and the statement of financial performance, statement of changes in net assets and cash flow

statement for the year then ended, a summary of significant accounting policies and other

explanatory information, as set out on pages 102 to 155. 

Accounting officer’s responsibility for the financial statements

2. The accounting officer is responsible for the preparation of these financial statements in

accordance with the Departmental Reporting Framework prescribed by National Treasury and

the requirements of the PFMA and the Division of Revenue Act of South Africa, 2010 (Act No.

1 of 2010) (DORA), and for such internal control as management determines necessary to

enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether

due to fraud or error.

Auditor-General’s responsibility

3. As required by section 188 of the Constitution of the Republic of South Africa, 1996 (Act No.

108 of 1996) and section 4 of the Public Audit Act of South Africa, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004)

(PAA), my responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on my

audit.

4. I conducted my audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing and General

Notice 1111 of 2010 issued in Government Gazette 33872 of 15 December 2010.  Those

standards require that I comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to

obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material

misstatement.

5. An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and

disclosures in the financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s

judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial

statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor

considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the

financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the

circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the

entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting

policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well

as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
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6. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis

for my audit opinion.

Opinion

7. In my opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material aspects, the financial

position of the Department of Energy at 31 March 2011, an its financial performance and cash

flows for the year then ended in accordance with The Departmental Financial Reporting

Framework prescribed by the National Treasury and the requirements of the Public Finance

Management Act of South Africa, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999 (PFMA) and Division of Revenue Act

of South Africa 2010 (Act No. 1 of 2010) DORA. 

Emphasis of matter 

8. I draw attention to the matters below. My opinion is not modified in respect of these matters:

Unauthorised and irregular expenditure

9. The department incurred unauthorised expenditure of R14 860 000 due to funds that were

expended for purposes which were not in accordance with the vote.

10. The department incurred irregular expenditure of R110 992 000 as the expenditure incurred

was in contravention of the Treasury Regulations 8.2.2, expenditure not approved in

accordance with the department’s financial delegations.

11. The department incurred irregular expenditure of R1 371 000 as the expenditure incurred was

in contravention of the Treasury Regulation 16.A.3 relating to supply chain management.

Additional matters 

12. I draw attention to the matters below. My opinion is not modified in respect of these matters:

Unaudited supplementary schedules

13. The supplementary information set out on pages 156 to 173 does not form part of the financial

statements and is presented as additional information.  I have not audited these schedules

and, accordingly, I do not express and opinion thereon.

Financial reporting framework

14. The financial reporting framework prescribed by the National Treasury applied by the

department is a compliance framework.  Thus my opinion would have reflected that the financial

statements had been properly prepared instead of fairly presented as required by section



Department of Energy – Annual Report 2010/2011 99

National Department of Energy – Vote 28

Report of the Auditor-General
for the year ended 31 March 2011

20(2)(a) of the PAA, which requires me to express an opinion on the fair presentation of the

financial statements of the department.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

15. In accordance with the PAA and in terms of General Notice 1111 of 2010 issued in Government

Gazette 33872 of 15 December 2010, I include below my findings on the annual performance

report as set out on pages 20 to 73 and material non-compliance with laws and regulations

applicable to the department.

Predetermined objectives 

Presentation of information

16. There were no material findings on the annual performance report concerning the presentation,

of the information

Usefulness of information

17. The reported performance information was deficient in respect of the following criteria;

• Consistency: The reported indicators and targets are not complete when compared with

the planned indicators and targets.

• Relevance: A clear and logical link exists between the objectives, outcomes, outputs,

indicators and performance targets.

• Measurability: The targets are not measurable.

18. Changes to planned objectives, measures and targets are not disclosed in the

report of predetermined objectives

Changes to the indicators and targets of the approved strategic plan for the year under review,

were not disclosed and explained as required in terms of the relevant National Treasury

preparation guide. 

19. Reported objectives, measures and targets are not complete when compared

with the planned objectives, indicators and targets 

Reported performance against predetermined indicators and targets is not consistent with the

approved strategic plan. 

The actual achievements with regard to 27% of all planned objectives, indicators and targets
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specified in the strategic plan for the year under review were not included in the report on

predetermined objectives submitted for audit purposes.

20. Changes to planned objectives, indicators and targets are not approved 

Different objectives, indicators and targets were reported on as opposed to the approved

strategic plan.  These additional and different objectives, indicators and targets were not

approved subsequent to the strategic planning process.

21. Planned and reported targets are not measurable 

For the selected programmes, 38% of the planned and reported targets were not: 

• measurable in identifying the required performance;

Reliability of information

22. There were no material findings on the annual performance report concerning the reliability of

the information.

Compliance with laws and regulations 

Transfer of funds

23. The transferring national officer transferred funds without ensuring that information required in

terms of this DORA have been secured and all relevant information have been provided to the

National Treasury, as per the requirements of section 10(1)(b) of the DORA.

24. The transferring national officer did not always comply with the approved payment schedule as

per the requirements of section 10(1)(c) of the DORA.

25. The transferring national officer did not submit a quarterly performance report within 45 days

after the end of each quarter to the National Treasury, as per the requirements of section 10(6)

of the DORA.

Annual financial statements, performance and annual report

26. The accounting officer submit financial statements for auditing that were not prepared in all

material aspects in accordance with generally recognised accounting practice as required by

section 40(1) (a) and (b) of the PFMA. The material misstatements identified by the AGSA with

regards’ to various account balances and disclosures were subsequently corrected.

27. The accounting officer did not submit the financial statements for auditing within two months

after the end of the financial year as required by section 40(1)(c) of the PFMA.
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28. The annual report was not prepared with the strategic plan as its basis as per the requirements

of TR 5.2.3. Not all indicators and targets were included in the annual report.

Expenditure Management

29. The accounting officer did not immediately upon the discovery of unauthorised and irregular

expenditure report it to the relevant treasury as per the requirements of section 38(1)(g) of the

PFMA.

Internal Control

30. In accordance with the PAA and in terms of General Notice 1111 of 2010 issued in Government

Gazette 33872 of 15 December 2010, I considered internal control relevant to my audit, but not

for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control. The matters

reported below are limited to the significant deficiencies that resulted in the findings on the

annual performance report and the findings on compliance with laws and regulations included

in this report. 

Leadership

Ongoing monitoring and supervision undertaken to enable management to determine whether

internal controls over financial reporting is present and functioning were not adequate which led

to material adjustments to the financial statements and non compliance to laws and regulations. 

Financial and performance management

The reviewing and monitoring of compliance with applicable laws and regulations were

ineffective when dealing with transfers and subsidies. 

Pretoria

19 September 2011
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Notes to the Appropriation Statement
for the year ended 31 March 2011

1. Details of Transfers and Subsidies as per Appropriation Act (after virement)

Details of these transactions can be viewed in note 6 (Transfers and Subsidies) and Annexure

1 (A–D) to the Annual Financial Statements.

2. Details of Specifically and Exclusively Appropriated Amounts Voted (after
Virement)

Details of these transactions can be viewed in note 1 (Annual Appropriation) to the Annual

Financial Statements.

3. Explanations of Material Variances from Amounts Voted (after Virement)

Per programme

Programme 1 Final

Appropriation

Actual

Expenditure

Variance

R’000

Variance as a % 

of Final

Appropriation

Administration 127 506 121 602 5 904 4.6

The underspending of R5.9 million under Programme 1: Administration mainly relates to the

procurement of goods and services. In instances where orders were placed but for which

expenditure is pending because of delays in delivery of goods and services, late receipt of

invoices and consequent delay in the processing of payments.  The item goods and services

consequently reflects an underspending.

Programme 2 Final

Appropriation

Actual

Expenditure

Variance

R’000

Variance as a % 

of Final

Appropriation

Hydrocarbons &
Energy Planning

1 564 658 1 556 402 8 256 0.5

Programme 3 Final

Appropriation

Actual

Expenditure

Variance

R’000

Variance as a % 

of Final

Appropriation

Electricity &
Nuclear

431 740 408 642 23 098 5.3

The underspending of R8.2 million under the Hydrocarbons and Energy Planning Branch

represents an underspending of 0.5% and is attributable to vacancies in the Branch during the

reporting period (R2.29 million) and outstanding order payments at financial year-end

associated with the procurement of goods and services (R5.94 million).
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Notes to the Appropriation Statement
for the year ended 31 March 2011

The Electricity and Nuclear Branch recorded an underspending of R23.1 million, which

represents an underspending of 5.3%.  This is mainly the result of outstanding transfer

payments of R20.19 million relating to the REFSO.

Other contributing factors are vacancies in the Branch (R1.58 million) during the reporting

period and outstanding order payments at financial year-end (R1.15 million).

Programme 4 Final

Appropriation

Actual

Expenditure

Variance

R’000

Variance as a % 

of Final

Appropriation

Associated
Services

3 524 760 3 418 740 106 020 3

The underspending of R106 million, which is 3% under Programme 4: Associated Services

can be attributed to:

• Transfer payments in respect of the INEP earmarked for transfer to non-grid electrification

projects, were not made because delays in service agreements, late fund requests by

municipalities and time frames attached to the bank verification process.

• EDIH – NERT Project. This project was handled operationally by EDIH. National Treasury

approved a transfer of R5 million for the payment of this project to Gobodo Systems

Consulting. However, this payment could not be affected until an agreement was signed

between the DoE and Gobodo Systems Consulting, thereby creating an obligation to pay. 

Per Economic Classification Final

Appropriation

Actual

Expenditure

Variance Variance as a

% of Final

Appropriation

R’000 R’000 R’000 %

Current payments

Compensation of employees

Goods and services

Transfers and subsidies

Provinces and municipalities

Departmental agencies and accounts

Public corporations and private

enterprises

Households

Payments for capital assets

Machinery and equipment

Software and other intangible assets

Total

143 256

105 505

1 240 104

86 536

4 067 698

351

5 195

19

5 648 664

142 826

91 034

1 253 382

81 536

3 933 209

79

3 320

–

5 505 386

430

14 471

(13 278)

5 000

134 489

272

1 875

19

143 278

0.3

13.7

(1.1)

5.8

3.3

77.5

35.9

100

2.5
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Statement of Financial Performance
for the year ended 31 March 2011

Performance Note 2010/11 2009/10

R'000 R'000

Revenue

Annual appropriation 1 5 648 664 –

Departmental revenue 2 3 920 –

Aid assistance 3 5 541 –

Total Revenue 5 658 125 –

Expenditure

Current expenditure

Compensation of employees 4 142 826 –

Goods and services 5 91 034 –

Aid assistance 3 870 –

Total current expenditure 234 730 –

Transfers and subsidies

Transfers and subsidies 6 5 268 206 –

Total transfers and subsidies 5 268 206 –

Expenditure for capital assets

Tangible capital assets 7 3 320 –

Total expenditure for capital assets 3 320 –

Total Expenditure 5 506 256 –

Surplus for the year 151 869 –

Reconciliation of Net Surplus for the year

Voted funds 143 278 –

Annual appropriation 143 278 –

Departmental revenue and NRF Receipts 15 3 920 –

Aid assistance 3 4 671 –

Surplus for the year 151 869 –
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National Department of Energy – Vote 28

Statement of Financial Position
for the year ended 31 March 2011

Position Note 2010/11 2009/10

R'000 R'000

Assets

Current assets 165 847 –

Unauthorised expenditure 8 14 860

Cash and cash equivalents 9 136 283 –

Prepayments and advances 10 60 –

Receivables 11 14 644 –

Non-current assets 2 205 –

Investments 12 2 205 –

Loans 13 – –

Total Assets 168 052 –

Liabilities

Current liabilities 165 847 –

Voted funds to be surrendered to the Revenue Fund 14 158 138 –

Departmental revenue and NRF Receipts to be
surrendered to the Revenue Fund

15 53 –

Payables 16 4 079 –

Aid assistance repayable 3 3 577 –

Total Liabilities 165 847 –

Net Assets 2 205 –

Represented by: –

Capitalisation reserve 2 205 –

Total 2 205 –
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Statement of Changes in Net Assets
for the year ended 31 March 2011

Net Assets 2010/11 2009/10

R'000 R'000

Capitalisation Reserves

Opening balance 2 205 –

Closing balance 2 205 –

Total 2 205 –
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National Department of Energy – Vote 28

Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 31 March 2011

Cash Flow Note 2010/11 2009/10

R'000 R’000

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Receipts 5 658 125 –

Annual appropriated funds received 1.1 5 648 664 –

Departmental revenue received 2 3 920 –

Aid assistance received 3 5 541 –

Net (increase) in working capital (25 485) –

Surrendered to Revenue Fund (3 867) –

Surrendered to RDP Fund/Donor (1 094) –

Current payments (219 870) –

Transfers and subsidies paid (5 268 206) –

Net cash flow available from operating activities 17 139 603 –

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Payments for capital assets 7 (3 320) –

(Increase) in investments 12 (2 205)

Net cash flows from investing activities (5 525) –

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Increase in net assets 2 205 –

Net cash flows from financing activities 2 205 –

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 136 283 –

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period – –

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 18 136 283 –
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Statement of Accounting Policies and Related Matters
for the year ended 31 March 2011

The Financial Statements have prepared in accordance with the following policies that have

been applied consistently in all material aspects, unless otherwise indicated. However, where

appropriate and meaningful, additional information has been disclosed to enhance the

usefulness of the Financial Statements and to comply with the statutory requirements of the

PFMA (Act No.1 of 1999), as amended by Act No. 29 of 1999, and the Treasury Regulations

issued in terms of the Act and the Division of Revenue Act, Act No.1 of 2010. 

1. Presentation of the Financial Statements

1.1 Basis of preparation

The Financial Statements have been prepared on a modified cash basis of accounting, except

where stated otherwise. The modified cash basis constitutes the cash basis of accounting

supplemented with additional disclosure items. Under the cash basis of accounting transactions

and other events are recognised when cash is received or paid. 

1.2 Presentation currency

All amounts have been presented in the currency of the South African rand (R), which is also

the functional currency of the Department.

1.3 Rounding

Unless otherwise stated, all financial figures have been rounded to the nearest one thousand

rand (R’000).

1.4 Comparative figures

Prior period comparative information has not been presented in the current year’s financial

statements as per Treasury Regulation 5.7, which states: “Prior period figures shall be

presented in the financial statements of the transferor department only and not in the financial

statements of the recipient department. Comparative figures must be what the department

reported previously.  For new departments there will be no comparative figures.”  The DoE was

formed on 1 April 2010.

1.5 Comparative figures − Appropriation Statement

A comparison between actual amounts and final appropriation per major classification of

expenditure is included in the Appropriation Statement.  
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Statement of Accounting Policies and Related Matters
for the year ended 31 March 2011

2. Revenue

2.1 Appropriated funds

Appropriated funds comprise departmental allocations as well as direct charges against

revenue fund (i.e. statutory appropriation).

Appropriated funds are recognised in the financial records on the date the appropriation

becomes effective. Adjustments made in terms of the adjustments budget process are

recognised in the financial records on the date the adjustments become effective.

Unexpended appropriated funds are surrendered to the National/Provincial Revenue Fund.

Any amounts owing to the National/Provincial Revenue Fund at the end of the financial year

are recognised as payable in the Statement of Financial Position.

Any amount due from the National/Provincial Revenue Fund at the end of the financial year is

recognised as a receivable in the Statement of Financial Position.

2.2 Departmental revenue

All departmental revenue is recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance when

received and is subsequently paid into the National/Provincial Revenue Fund, unless stated

otherwise.

Any amount owing to the National/Provincial Revenue Fund is recognised as a payable in the

Statement of Financial Position. 

No accrual is made for amounts receivable from the last receipt date to the end of the reporting

period. These amounts are, however, disclosed in the Disclosure Notes to the Annual Financial

Statements.

2.3 Direct Exchequer receipts

All direct exchequer receipts are recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance when

the cash is received and is subsequently paid into the National/Provincial Revenue Fund,

unless stated otherwise.  

Any amount owing to the National/Provincial Revenue Funds at the end of the financial year is

recognised as a payable in the Statement of Financial Position.

2.4 Direct Exchequer payments

All direct exchequer payments are recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance when

final authorisation for payment is effected on the system (by no later than 31 March of each

year).
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Statement of Accounting Policies and Related Matters
for the year ended 31 March 2011

2.5 Aid assistance

Aid assistance is recognised as revenue when received.

All in-kind aid assistance is disclosed at fair value on the date of receipt in the annexures to the

Annual Financial Statements.

The cash payments made during the year relating to aid assistance projects are recognised as

expenditure in the Statement of Financial Performance when final authorisation for payments

is effected on the system (by no later than 31 March of each year).

The value of the assistance expensed prior to the receipt of funds is recognised as a receivable

in the Statement of Financial Position.

Inappropriately expensed amounts using aid assistance and any unutilised amounts are

recognised as payables in the Statement of Financial Position.

All CARA funds received must be recorded as revenue when funds are received.  The cash

payments made during the year relating to CARA-earmarked projects are recognised as

expenditure in the Statement of Financial Performance when final authorisation for payments

is effected on the system (by no later than 31 March of each year).

Inappropriately expensed amounts using CARA funds are recognised as payables in the

Statement of Financial Position. Any unutilised amounts are transferred to retained funds as

they are not surrendered to the revenue fund.

3. Expenditure

3.1 Compensation of employees

3.1.1 Salaries and wages

Salaries and wages are expensed in the Statement of Financial Performance when the final

authorisation for payment is effected on the system (by no later than 31 March of each year).

Other employee benefits that give rise to a present legal or constructive obligation are disclosed

in the Disclosure Notes to the Financial Statements at face value and are not recognised in the

Statements of Financial Performance or Position.

Employee costs are capitalised to the cost of a capital project when an employee spends more

than 50% of his/her time on the project. These payments form part of expenditure for capital

assets in the Statement of Financial Performance.



Department of Energy – Annual Report 2010/2011122

National Department of Energy – Vote 28

Statement of Accounting Policies and Related Matters
for the year ended 31 March 2011

3.1.2 Social contributions

Employer contributions to post-employment benefit plans in respect of current employees are

expensed in the Statement of Financial Performance when the final authorisation for payment

is effected on the system (by no later than 31 March of each year).

No provision is made for retirement benefits in the Financial Statements of the Department. Any

potential liabilities are disclosed in the Financial Statements of the National Revenue Fund and

not in the Financial Statements of the employer department.

Employer contributions made by the Department for certain of its ex-employees (such as

medical benefits) are classified as transfers to households in the Statement of Financial

Performance.

3.2 Goods and services

Payments made during the year for goods and/or services are recognised as an expense in the

Statement of Financial Performance when the final authorisation for payment is effected on

the system (by no later than 31 March of each year). 

The expense is classified as capital if the goods and/or services were acquired for a capital

project or if the total purchase price exceeds the capitalisation threshold (currently R5 000). All

other expenditures are classified as current.

Rental paid for the use of buildings or other fixed structures is classified as goods and services

and not as rent on land.

3.3 Interest and rent on land

Interest and rental payments are recognised as an expense in the Statement of Financial

Performance when the final authorisation for payment is effected on the system (by no later

than 31 March of each year). This item excludes rental for the use of buildings or other fixed

structures. If it is not possible to distinguish between payment for the use of land and the fixed

structures on it, the whole amount should be recorded under goods and services.

3.4 Payments for financial assets

Debts are written off when identified as irrecoverable. Debts written-off are limited to the amount

of savings and/or underspending of appropriated funds. The write off occurs at year-end or

when funds are available. No provision is made for irrecoverable amounts, but an estimate is

included in the Disclosure Notes to the Financial Statements amounts. 

All other losses are recognised when authorisation has been granted for the recognition thereof.
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Statement of Accounting Policies and Related Matters
for the year ended 31 March 2011

3.5 Transfers and subsidies

Transfers and subsidies are recognised as an expense when the final authorisation for payment

is effected on the system (by no later than 31 March of each year).

3.6 Unauthorised expenditure

When confirmed unauthorised expenditure is recognised as an asset in the Statement of

Financial Position until such time as the expenditure is either approved by the relevant authority,

recovered from the responsible person or written off as irrecoverable in the Statement of

Financial Performance.

Unauthorised expenditure approved with funding is derecognised from the Statement of

Financial Position when the unauthorised expenditure is approved and the related funds are

received.  

Where the amount is approved without funding it is recognised as expenditure in the Statement

of Financial Performance on the date of approval.

3.7 Fruitless and wasteful expenditure

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure is recognised as expenditure in the Statement of Financial

Performance according to the nature of the payment and not as a separate line item on the face

of the Statement. If the expenditure is recoverable, it is treated as an asset until it is recovered

from the responsible person or written off as irrecoverable in the Statement of Financial

Performance.

3.8 Irregular expenditure

Irregular expenditure is recognised as expenditure in the Statement of Financial Performance.

If the expenditure is not condoned by the relevant authority, it is treated as an asset until it is

recovered or written off as irrecoverable.   

4. Assets

4.1 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the Statement of Financial Position at cost.  

Bank overdrafts are shown separately on the face of the Statement of Financial Position.

For the purposes of the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on

hand, deposits held, other short-term, highly liquid investments and bank overdrafts.
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4.2 Other financial assets

Other financial assets are carried in the Statement of Financial Position at cost.

4.3 Prepayments and advances

Amounts prepaid or advanced are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position when the

payments are made and are derecognised as and when the goods/services are received or the

funds are utilised.

Prepayments and advances outstanding at the end of the year are carried in the Statement of

Financial Position at cost.

4.4 Receivables

Receivables included in the Statement of Financial Position arise from cash payments made

that are recoverable from another party (including departmental employees) and are

derecognised upon recovery or write-off.

Receivables outstanding at year-end are carried in the Statement of Financial Position at cost

plus any accrued interest.  Amounts that are potentially irrecoverable are included in the

Disclosure Notes.

4.5 Investments

Capitalised investments are shown at cost in the Statement of Financial Position. 

Investments are tested for an impairment loss whenever events or changes in circumstances

indicate that the investment may be impaired. Any impairment loss is included in the Disclosure

Notes.  

4.6 Loans

Loans are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position when the cash is paid to the

beneficiary. Loans that are outstanding at year-end are carried in the Statement of Financial

Position at cost plus accrued interest.

Amounts that are potentially irrecoverable are included in the Disclosure Notes.

4.7 Inventory

Inventories that qualify for recognition must initially be reflected at cost. Where inventories are

acquired at no cost, or for nominal consideration, their cost shall be their fair value at the date

of acquisition.
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All inventory items at year-end are reflected using the weighted average cost or FIFO cost

formula.

4.8 Capital assets

4.8.1 Movable assets

Initial recognition

A capital asset is recorded in the asset register on receipt of the item at cost. Cost of an asset

is defined as the total cost of acquisition. Where the cost cannot be determined accurately, the

movable capital asset is stated at fair value. Where fair value cannot be determined, the capital

asset is included in the asset register at R1.

All assets acquired prior to 1 April 2002 are included in the register at R1.

Subsequent recognition

Subsequent expenditure of a capital nature is recorded in the Statement of Financial

Performance as “expenditure for capital assets” and is capitalised in the asset register of the

Department on completion of the project.  

Repairs and maintenance is expensed as current “goods and services” in the Statement of

Financial Performance.

4.8.2 Immovable assets

Initial recognition

A capital asset is recorded on receipt of the item at cost. Cost of an asset is defined as the total

cost of acquisition. Where the cost cannot be determined accurately, the immovable capital

asset is stated at R1, unless the fair value for the asset has been reliably estimated.

Subsequent recognition

Work-in-progress of a capital nature is recorded in the Statement of Financial Performance as

“expenditure for capital assets”. On completion, the total cost of the project is included in the

asset register of the department that is accountable for the asset.

Repairs and maintenance is expensed as current “goods and services” in the Statement of

Financial Performance.



Department of Energy – Annual Report 2010/2011126

National Department of Energy – Vote 28

Statement of Accounting Policies and Related Matters
for the year ended 31 March 2011

5. Liabilities

5.1 Payables

Recognised payables mainly comprise amounts owing to other governmental entities. These

payables are carried at cost in the Statement of Financial Position.

5.2 Contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities are included in the Disclosure Notes to the Financial Statements when it

is possible that economic benefits will flow from the Department, or when an outflow of

economic benefits or service potential is probable but cannot be measured reliably.

5.3 Contingent assets

Contingent assets are included in the Disclosure Notes to the Financial Statements when it is

probable that an inflow of economic benefits will flow to the entity.

5.4 Commitments

Commitments are not recognised in the Statement of Financial Position as a liability or as

expenditure in the Statement of Financial Performance, but are included in the Disclosure

Notes.

5.5 Accruals

Accruals are not recognised in the Statement of Financial Position as a liability or as

expenditure in the Statement of Financial Performance but are included in the Disclosure Notes.

5.6 Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits that give rise to a present legal or constructive obligation are

disclosed in the Disclosure Notes to the Financial Statements. These amounts are not

recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance or the Statement of Financial Position.

5.7 Lease commitments

Finance lease

Finance leases are not recognised as assets and liabilities in the Statement of Financial

Position.  Finance lease payments are recognised as an expense in the Statement of Financial

Performance and are apportioned between the capital and interest portions. The finance lease

liability is disclosed in the Disclosure Notes to the Financial Statements.
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Operating lease

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the Statement of Financial

Performance. The operating lease commitments are disclosed in the Disclosure Notes to the

Financial Statement.

5.8 Impairment and other provisions

The Department tests for impairment where there is an indication that a receivable, loan or

investment may be impaired. An assessment of whether there is an indication of possible

impairment is done at each reporting date. An estimate is made for doubtful loans and

receivables based on a review of all outstanding amounts at year-end. Impairments on

investments are calculated as being the difference between the carrying amount and the

present value of the expected future cash flows/service potential flowing from the instrument.

Provisions are disclosed when there is a present legal or constructive obligation to forfeit

economic benefits as a result of events in the past and it is probable that an outflow of resources

embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate

of the obligation can be made.

6. Receivables for Departmental Revenue

Receivables for departmental revenue are disclosed in the Disclosure Notes to the Annual

Financial Statements.

7. Net Assets

7.1 Capitalisation reserve

The capitalisation reserve comprises financial assets and/or liabilities originating in a prior

reporting period but which are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position for the first time

in the current reporting period. Amounts are recognised in the capitalisation reserves when

identified in the current period and are transferred to the National/Provincial Revenue Fund

when the underlining asset is disposed and the related funds are received.

7.2 Recoverable revenue

Amounts are recognised as recoverable revenue when a payment made in a previous financial

year becomes recoverable from a debtor in the current financial year. Amounts are either

transferred to the National/Provincial Revenue Fund when recovered or are transferred to the

Statement of Financial Performance when written-off.
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8. Related Party Transactions

Specific information with regard to related party transactions is included in the Disclosure Notes.

9. Key Management Personnel

Compensation paid to key management personnel, including their family members, where

relevant, is included in the Disclosure Notes.

10. Public Private Partnerships (PPPs)

A description of the PPP arrangement, the contract fees and current and capital expenditure

relating to the PPP arrangement are included in the Disclosure Notes.



2010/11 2009/10

Note R’000 R’000

2. Departmental Revenue

Sales of goods and services other than capital   

assets

2.1 3 708 –

Interest, dividends and rent on land 2.2 14 –

Transactions in financial assets and liabilities 2.3 198 –

Departmental revenue collected 3 920 –

2.1 Sales of goods and services other than

capital assets

2

Sales of goods and services produced by the   

department

3 708 –

Sales by market establishment 169 –

Administrative fees 3 539 –

Total 3 708 –

Revenue under sales of goods and services produced by the Department include rental from 

undercover parking, petroleum licence fees, replacement of security cards and commissions 

from insurance and garnishees. 
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1. Annual Appropriation 

1.1 Annual appropriation

Included are funds appropriated in terms of the Appropriation Act (and the Adjustments

Appropriation Act) for National Departments (Voted funds) and Provincial Departments:

Programmes Final

Appropriation

Actual Funds

Received

Funds not

Requested/

not Received 

Appropriation

Received 

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Administration 127 506 127 016 490 –

Hydrocarbons &

Energy Planning

1 564 658 1 570 058 (5 400) –

Electricity, Nuclear

& Clean Energy

431 740 431 830 (90) –

Associated Services 3 524 760 3 519 760 5 000 –

Total 5 648 664 5 648 664 – –
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2010/11 2009/10

Note R’000 R’000

2.2 Interest, dividends and rent on land 2

Interest 14 –

Total 14 –

2.3 Transactions in financial assets and liabilities 2
Receivables 198 –

Total 198 –

Revenue under transactions in financial assets and liabilities include recovery of prior year

expenses.

3. Aid Assistance 

3.1 Aid assistance received in cash from RDP

Foreign

Revenue 5 541 –

Expenditure (870) –

Current (870) –

4 671 –

Surrendered to the RDP (1 094) –

Closing balance 3 577 –

3.2 Analysis of balance

Aid assistance repayable to the Reconstruction & 

Development Programme (RDP) 3 577 –

Closing balance 3 577 –

4. Compensation of Employees

4.1 Salaries and wages

Basic salary 94 333 –

Performance award 2 531 –

Service Based 640 –

Compensative/circumstantial 3 596 –

Periodic payments 84 –

Other non-pensionable allowances 25 019 –

Total 126 203 –
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2010/11 2009/10

Note R’000 R’000

4.2 Social contributions

Employer contributions

Pension 11 975 –

Medical 4 625 –

Bargaining council 23 –

Total 16 623 –

Total compensation of employees 142 826 –

Average number of employees 526 –

5. Goods and Services 

Administrative fees 1 990 –

Advertising 2 571 –

Assets less then R5 000 5.1 727 –

Bursaries (employees) 416 –

Catering 1 453 –

Communication 4 261 –

Computer services 5.2 2 834 –

Consultants, contractors and agency/

outsourced services 5.3 10 535 –

Entertainment 83 –

Audit cost – external 5.4 1 879 –

Inventory 5.5 2 013 –

Operating leases 22 205 –

Owned and leasehold property expenditure 5.6 607 –

Travel and subsistence 5.7 30 357 –

Venues and facilities 4 338 –

Training and staff development 1 322 –

Other operating expenditure 5.8 3 443 –

Total 91 034 –

5.1 Assets less than R5 000 5

Tangible assets

Machinery and equipment 727 –

Total 727 –
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2010/11 2009/10

Note R’000 R’000

5.2 Computer services 5

SITA computer services 1 718 –

External computer service providers 1 116 –

Total 2 834 –

5.3 Consultants, contractors and agency/outsourced

Services 5

Business and advisory services 6 659 –

Legal costs 46 –

Contractors 3 119 –

Agency and support/outsourced services 711 –

Total 10 535 –

5.4 Audit cost – external 5

Regularity audits 1 879 –

Total 1 879 –

5.5 Inventory 5

Learning and teaching support material 48 –

Fuel, oil and gas 10 –

Other consumable materials 105 –

Maintenance material 151 –

Stationery and printing 1 699 –

Total 2 013 –

5.6 Property payments 5

Other 607 –

Total 607 –

Expenditure under other property payments include cleaning services.
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2010/11 2009/10

Note R’000 R’000

5.7 Travel and subsistence 5

Local 18 445 –

Foreign 11 912 –

Total 30 357 –

5.8 Other operating expenditure 5

Professional bodies, membership and

subscription fees

2 562 –

Resettlement costs 350 –

Other 531 –

Total 3 443 –

Expenditure under other operating expenditure include courier and delivery services, licences,

permits, vehicle tracking, freight services, taking over study loan obligations, and printing and

publication services.

6. Transfers and Subsidies

Provinces and municipalities Annex 1A 1 253 382 –

Departmental agencies and accounts Annex 1B 81 536 –

Public corporations and private enterprises Annex 1C 3 933 209 –

Households Annex 1D 79 –

Total 5 268 206 –

7. Expenditure for Capital Assets 

Tangible assets 3 320 –

Machinery and equipment 3 320 –

Total 3 320 –
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7.1 Analysis of funds utilised to acquire capital assets – 2010/11

Voted Funds Aid

Assistance

Total

R’000 R’000 R’000

Tangible assets 3 320 – 3 320

Machinery and equipment 3 320 – 3 320

Total 3 320 – 3 320

2010/11 2009/10

Note R’000 R’000

8. Unauthorised Expenditure

8.1 Reconciliation of unauthorised expenditure

Unauthorised expenditure – in current year 14 14 860 –

Unauthorised expenditure awaiting

authorisation/written off 14 860 –

8.2 Analysis of unauthorised expenditure awaiting authorisation per economic

classification

Transfers and subsidies 14 860 –

Total 14 860 –

8.3 Analysis of unauthorised expenditure awaiting authorisation per type

Unauthorised expenditure relating to a transfer

that was not budgeted for within the vote 14 860 –

Total 14 860 –
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8.4 Details of unauthorised expenditure – current year

Incident Disciplinary Steps

taken/Criminal Proceedings

2010/11

R’000

Transfer payment to Mthonjaneni
municipality in respect of
Infrastructure Grant paid in the
current year which related to the
previous financial year.

Disciplinary process in progress 14 860

Total 14 860

2010/11 2009/10

R’000 R’000

9. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Consolidated Paymaster General Account 138 155 –

Disbursements (5 847) –

Cash on hand 46 –

Cash with commercial banks (local) 3 929 –

Total 136 283 –

10. Prepayments and Advances

Travel and subsistence 60 –

Total 60 –

11. Receivables

2010/11 2009/10

Note R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Less than

one Year

One to 

three Years

Older than

three Years

Total Total

Claims
recoverable

11.1 14 531 – – 14 531 –

Staff debt 11.2 27 86 – 113 –

Total 14 558 86 – 14 644 –



2010/11 2009/10

Note R’000 R’000

11.1 Claims recoverable 11

National departments 1 183 –

Local government – overpayments to

municipalities

9 311 –

Recoverable from third parties 4 037 –

Total 14 531 –

Subsequent to year-end all overpayments to municipalities have been fully recovered.

11.2 Staff debt 11

Staff debtors 113 –

Total 113 –

12. Investments

Non-current

Shares and other equity 2 205 –

Total non-current 2 205 –

Analysis of non-current investments

Non-cash movements 2 205 –

Closing balance 2 205 –

Investments are recorded at cost in terms of the Accounting Policy. Refer to Annexure 2B for

the net asset value as at 31 March 2011.

13. Loans

The loan to the Portuguese Government towards the Hydro Electrica de Cahora Bassa

scheme was written down from R347 million to R1.00 during the 2003/04 financial year. This

amount includes capitalised interest of R308 million, while the capital amount in respect of the

loan was R39 million.

14. Voted Funds to be surrendered to the Revenue Fund

Transfer from statement of financial performance 143 278 –

Add: Unauthorised expenditure for current year 14 860

Closing balance 158 138 –
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2010/11 2009/10

Note R’000 R’000

15. Departmental Revenue and NRF Receipts to be surrendered to the Revenue
Fund 

Transfer from Statement of Financial Performance 3 920 –

Paid during the year (3 867) –

Closing balance 53 –

16. Payables – Current

Clearing accounts 16.1 42 –

Other payables 16.2 4 037 –

4 079 –

16.1 Clearing accounts

Salary: Pension Fund 5 –

Salary: Income Tax 39 –

Salary: Medical Aid (2) –

42 –

16.2 Other payables

Claims payable to national departments 4 037 –

4 037 –

17. Net Cash Flow available from Operating Activities

Net surplus as per Statement of Financial  

Performance

151 869 –

Add back non cash/cash movements not (12 266) –

(Increase) in receivables – current (14 644) –

(Increase) in prepayments and advances (60) –

Increase in payables – current 4 079 –

Expenditure on capital assets 3 320 –

Surrenders to Revenue Fund (3 867) –

Surrenders to RDP Fund/Donor (1 094) –

Net cash flow generated by operating 139 603 –
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2010/11 2009/10

Note R’000 R’000

18. Reconciliation of Cash and Cash Equivalents for Cash Flow Purposes

Consolidated Paymaster General account 138 155 –

Disbursements (5 847) –

Cash on hand 46 –

Cash with commercial banks (local) 3 929 –

Total 136 283 –



2010/11 2009/10

Note R’000 R’000

19. Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets

19.1 Contingent liabilities

Liable to Nature

Housing loan guarantee Employee Annex 3A 60 –

Bank facility guarantee NECSA Annex 3A 20 000 –

Other guarantee Annex 3B 1 994 –

Claims against the department Annex 3B 470 –

Other departments (interdepartmental

unconfirmed balances

Annex 5 4 004 –

Total 26 528 –

Other Guarantees

Potential liabilities exist relating to disputed hours and costs between the Department and a

service provider regarding the forensic audit into suspected irregularities within the Non-grid

Electrical Services Environment.
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2010/11 2009/10

R’000 R’000

19.2 Contingent assets

Nature of contingent asset

Feasibility studies 5 900 –

Total 5 900 –

Feasibility Studies

The department has a countigent asset of R5.9 million relating to the payment made for

feasibility studies on the land secured for Independent Power Plant project.
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2010/11 2009/10

R’000 R’000

20. Commitments

Current expenditure

Approved and contracted 3 015 048

Approved but not yet contracted 1 660 –

Capital expenditure

Approved and contracted 61 700 –

Total Commitments 3 078 408 –

Total Commitments include amounts contracted for a period longer than 1 year, comprising

Current expenditure of R3 005 432 305 and Capital expenditure of R1 060 592.

21. Accruals

Listed by economic classification

30 Days 30+ Days Total Total

Goods and services 318 829 – 318 829 –

Total 318 829 – 318 829 –

Listed by programme level

Administration 19 324 –

Hydrocarbons & Energy Planning 207 –

Electricity, Nuclear & Clean Energy 293 997 –

Associated Services 5 301 –

Total 318 829 –

Note 2010/11 2009/10

R’000 R’000

Confirmed balances with other departments Annex 5 167 –

Total 167 –
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Note 2010/11 2009/10

R’000 R’000

22. Employee Benefits

Leave entitlement 4 659 –

Service bonus (thirteenth cheque) 3 904 –

Performance awards 2 149 –

Capped leave commitments 1 929 –

Total 12 641 –

23. Lease Commitments

23.1 Operating leases expenditure

2010/11 Buildings

and other

fixed

Structures

Machinery

and

Equipment

Total

Not later than 1 year 23 290 1 348 24 638

Later than 1 year and not later than 

5 years 77 830 352 78 182

Total lease commitments 101 120 1 700 102 820

2009/10

Not later than 1 year – – –

Later than 1 year and not later than 

5 years

– – –

Total lease commitments – – –

2010/11 2009/10

Note R’000 R’000

24. Receivables for Departmental Revenue

Sales of goods and services other than capital

assets

24.1
105 –

Total 105 –



Incident Disciplinary Steps

taken/Criminal Proceedings

2010/11 

R’000

Failure to comply with the

departmental Procurement

Procedures

Employee received a warning. 127

Failure to comply with the

departmental Procurement

Procedures

Employee received a warning 50

Failure to comply with the

departmental Procurement

Procedures

Employee received a warning 49

Failure to comply with the

departmental Procurement

Procedures

Employee received a warning 121

Failure to comply with the

departmental Procurement

Procedures

Employee received a warning 70

Failure to comply with the

departmental Procurement

Procedures

Investigation to be conducted

25.2 Details of irregular expenditure – current year
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2010/11 2009/10

Note R’000 R’000

24.1 Analysis of receivables for departmental revenue

Opening balance – –

Add: Amounts recognised – petroleum licences 24 105 –

Closing balance 105 –

25. Irregular Expenditure

25.1 Reconciliation of irregular expenditure

Add: Irregular expenditure – relating to current

year

25.2 112 363 –

Less: Amounts condoned 25.3 (1 013) –

Irregular expenditure awaiting condonation 111 350 –

260
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25.2 Details of irregular expenditure – current year (continued)

Incident Disciplinary Steps

taken/Criminal Proceedings

2010/11 

R’000

Failure to comply with the

departmental Procurement

Procedures

Employee received a warning 143

Failure to comply with the

departmental Procurement

Procedures

Employee received a warning 453

Non-compliance with PN 8 of

2007/2008 

Employees awaiting

disciplinary action

98

Transfer payments not authorised in

accordance with Financial

Delegations

Employees awaiting

disciplinary action

110 992

Total 112 363

25.3 Details of irregular expenditure condoned

Incident Condoned by

(Condoning Authority)

2010/11 

R’000

Non-compliance with departmental

procedures

Condoned by the DG 1 013

Total 1 013

2010/11 2009/10

Note R’000 R’000

26. Related Party Transactions

Year-end balances arising from revenue/

payments

Receivables from related parties Annex4 1 254 –

Payables to related parties Annex5 (167) –

Total (1 087) –

The Department has a related party relationship with all the public sector entities falling within

the portfolio of the Minister of Energy.
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2010/11 2009/10

Note R’000 R’000

Other

Guarantees issued – NECSA 20 000 –

The Department issued guarantees to NECSA for a bank facility and environmental

rehabilitation liability.

Guarantees received – Ministry of Finance 7 288 –

The Department received a guarantee from the Ministry of Finance for the land in Avon,

KwaZulu-Natal, for the construction of the Independent Power Station.

Total 27 288 –

27. Key Management Personnel No. of 
Individuals

Political office bearers 2 2 405 –

Officials:

Levels 15 to 16 8 7 627 –

Level 14 8 6 706 –

Total 16 738 –

28. Impairment and other Provisions

Other provisions

Provision for doubtful debts 6 –

Provision for Environmental rehabilitation

liability

3 129 000 –

Total 3 129 006 –

28.1 Environmental rehabilitation liability

The Department has a potential liability arising from decontamination and decommissioning

of past strategic nuclear facilities as per section 1 (xii) (a) of the Nuclear Energy Act, Act No.46

of 1999. In terms of the Nuclear Liabilities Management Plan that was approved by Cabinet,

the liability was estimated at R1 796 000 000 during the previous assessment in 2004, while

the current re-assessment estimate amounts to R3 129 000 000. The current estimate of the

liability has increased by R1 333 000 000 when compared with the 2004 liability estimate.

This difference can mainly be ascribed to:

• Regulatory and policy changes;

• deferring and rescheduling of projects; and 

• changes in the microeconomic environment, e.g. inflation, labour cost and electricity prices.
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The total cost of carrying out the proposed liability discharge amounts to R3 129 000 000

over a 23-year period. This represents an average annual expense of R136 000 000. The

main aspects of the process are decommissioning, decontamination and waste management

(which includes the eventual disposal of the waste).

29.1 Additions

Additions to Movable Tangible Capital Assets per Asset Register for the year ended 

31 March 2011

Cash Non-cash Total

R’000 R’000 R’000

Machinery and Equipment

Transport assets 736 790 1 526

Computer equipment 1 440 8 564 10 004

Furniture and office equipment 737 6 484 7 221

Other machinery and equipment 407 1 571 1 978

Total Additions to Movable 

Tangible Capital Assets 3 320 17 409 20 729

29. Movable Tangible Capital Assets

Movement in Movable Tangible Capital Assets per Asset Register for the year ended 

31 March 2011

Opening

Balance

Additions Disposals Closing

Balance

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Machinery and

Equipment

Transport assets – 1 526 – 1 526

Computer

equipment – 10 004 – 10 004

Furniture and

office equipment – 7 221 – 7 221

Other machinery

and equipment – 1 978 – 1 978

Total Movable

Tangible Capital

Assets – 20 729 – 20 729
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29.2 Minor assets

Minor Assets of the Department as at 31 March 2011

Machinery

and

Equipment

Total

R’000 R’000

Minor assets 4 302 4 302

Total 4 302 4 302

Number of minor  assets at cost 2 398 2 398

Total Number of Minor Assets 2 398 2 398

30. Intangible Capital Assets

Movement in Intangible Capital Assets per Asset Register for the year ended 

31 March 2011

Opening

Balance

Additions Disposals Closing

Balance

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Computer

Software – 2 622 – 2 622

Other Intangibles – 228 – 228

Total Intangible

Capital Assets – 2 850 – 2 850

30.1 Additions

Additions to Intangible Capital Assets per Asset Register for the year ended 

31 March 2011

Cash Non-cash Total

R’000 R’000 R’000

Computer Software – 2 622 2 622

Other Intangibles – 228 228

Total Additions to

Intangible Capital Assets – 2 850 2 850
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National Department of Energy – Vote 28

Disclosure Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 March 2011

2010/11 2009/10

R’000 R’000

32. World Cup Expenditure

Other costs R’000 R’000

Recovery of Electrical Back-up Power costs 281 000 –

Total world cup expenditure 281 000 –

Payment to the Local and Organising Committee for world cup infrastructure costs was made

during the 2011/12 financial year, because to the budget allocation for this specific payment

was made available by National Treasury on 1 April 2011 only.
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Acronyms

ADAM Approach to Distribution Assessment Management

AEMFC African Exploration, Mining and Finance Corporation

AENE Adjusted Estimates of National Expenditure

BAS Basic Accounting System

BEE Black Economic Empowerment

BRICS Brazil, Russia, India, China and South Africa

CCUS Carbon Capture Use and Storage

CDM Clean Development Mechanism 

CEF CEF (Pty) Ltd

CFO Chief Financial Officer

CNG Compressed Natural Gas

CNS Convention on Nuclear Safety

COFIT Cogeneration Feed-In Tariffs

COO Chief Operating Officer

COP Conference of Parties

CPV Concentrated Photovoltaic

CSIR Centre for Scientific and Industrial Research 

CSP Concentrated Solar Power 

DBSA Development Bank of Southern Africa

DDG Deputy Director-General

DME Department of Minerals and Energy

DMR Department of Mineral Resources

DNA Designed National Authority

DoE Department of Energy 

DORA Division of Revenue Act

DSM Demand-side Management 

DST Department of Science and Technology

EDC Energy Development Corporation 

EDIH Electricity Distribution Industry Holdings 

EDSM Electricity Demand-side Management Programme

EEDSM Energy Efficiency and Demand-side Management 

EETIS Energy Efficiency Tax Incentive Scheme

ENE Estimates of National Expenditure

ER Electricity Regulation

ERM Enterprise Risk Management

EXCO Executive Committee

FBE Free Basic Energy

GAA Gas Amendment Act

GCIS Government Communication and Information System 

HDSA Historically Disadvantaged South African

HR Human Resources

IAEA International Atomic Energy Agency

IBT Inclining Block Tariffs

ICT Information and Computer Technology

IEA International Energy Agency 

IeC Integrated Energy Centre

IEP Integrated Energy Plan 
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iGAS South African Gas Development Company 

IMP Indicative Master Plan

INEP Integrated National Electrification Programme 

IP Illuminated Paraffin

IPAP Industry Policy Action Plan

IPP Independent Power Producer

IRP Integrated Resource Plan (2010–2030)

ISMO Independent System and Market Operator 

LEU Low Enriched Uranium

LNG Liquefied Natural Gas                        

LPG Liquefied Petroleum Gas

MDG Millennium Development Goal

MIRTA Minimum Information Requirements for Tariff Applications

MISS Minimum Information Security Standards

MoU Memorandum of Understanding

MTEF Medium Term Expenditure Framework 

MTSF Medium Term Strategic Framework

MYPD2 Multi-year Price Determination

NEA Nuclear Energy Act

NECSA South African Nuclear Energy Corporation 

NEEA National Energy Efficiency Agency

NEMA National Environmental Management Act

NERDIS Nuclear Energy Research, Development and Innovation Strategy

NERSA National Energy Regulator of South Africa

NERT National Electricity Response Team

NIA National Intelligence Agency

NIL Nuclear Installation Licence

NMPP New Multi-product Pipeline

NNR National Nuclear Regulator 

NRWDI National Radioactive Waste Disposal Institute

NSD NECSA’s Nuclear Skills Development

NTeMBI Nuclear Technologies in Medicine and the Biosciences Initiative

OCGT Open Cycle Gas Turbine

OPCSA Oil Pollution Control South Africa  

PASA Petroleum Agency SA

PBMR Pebble Bed Modular Reactor

PDP Performance Development Plans

PFMA Public Finance Management Act

PPA Petroleum Products Act

PPALS Petroleum Products Licensing System

PQS Parliamentary Questions System

PPP Public Participation Programmes 

PV Photovoltaic            

RED Regional Electricity Distributor

REFIT Renewable Energy Feed-in Tariff

REFSO Renewable Energy Finance and Subsidy Office

REMT Renewable Energy Market Transformation Project

SANEDI South African National Energy Development Institute

SANERI South African Natural Energy Research Institute
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SASDA South African Supplier Development Agency

SAWEP South African Wind Energy Programme

SCOA Standard Chart of Accounts

SDIP Service Delivery Improvement Plans Developed

SETA Skills Education Training Authorities

SFF Strategic Fuel Fund

SHS Solar Home System

SLA Service Level Agreement

SO Standard Offer

SOE State-owned Entity

SWH Solar Water Heaters  

ToR Terms of Reference

VPN Virtual Private Network

WOESA Women in Oil and Energy South Africa
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